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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, can I raise with you a matter

         2       which has been troubling me overnight.  As I understand it,

         3       today it is likely that three directors will be called.  We

         4       know that the directors have received a number of briefings

         5       about Project Rose, and one can assume, I think, that any

         6       information that directors might have in relation to what I

         7       shall call any payments of moneys which might be in breach

         8       of sanctions would come only from what they had been told

         9       at briefings.

        10

        11            The interest of the directors and of the board, it

        12       would seem to me, is to show, if they can, that they have

        13       no knowledge in relation to those matters, and I would be

        14       very loath to stop them giving that evidence.  But if they

        15       want to give evidence that they were not informed of any

        16       such matters, then that, on the face of it, would seem to

        17       open them up for cross-examination about what they were

        18       informed about, and that seems to me to open up the

        19       question of Project Rose.  So that we may have a perverse

        20       situation where the claiming of privilege, legal

        21       professional privilege, in respect of Project Rose and its

        22       outcome has the effect that the directors and the board

        23       cannot prove the particular matter, perhaps the only

        24       matter, that they want to prove.

        25

        26            Now, have I got that all wrong, or --

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   No, except for the last bit, sir, in the sense

        29       that - and I don't take you, sir, to assert this as a

        30       proposition - it is not the case that they have anything to

        31       prove here.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, but their interest is to

        34       establish - perhaps "prove" is not the right word.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   I didn't take you, sir, to be contending that

        37       they had any burden to prove or duty to prove.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, not at all.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   The complexity of the situation hasn't eluded

        42       us, of course.  It is really a consequence of an inquiry.

        43       There are a number of factors that bear upon this, if I may

        44       just mention them.  The first is that, insofar as this is a

        45       commission of inquiry into the subject matter of an

        46       investigation, or, to use a different example, a legal

        47       proceeding, if it were the subject matter of the
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         1       investigation, where legal professional privilege was an

         2       inherent part of what had occurred, it would be very

         3       difficult to conduct that investigation in the absence of a

         4       legislative removal of legal professional privilege, and

         5       that is always going to be so.  In a sense, the problem

         6       that has arisen is one which arises because this inquiry

         7       has extended into Project Rose and the mind of the

         8       directors in connection with information that might have

         9       been provided to them or what had been accumulated by

        10       Project Rose officers - Mr Cooper and Mr Hargreaves - and,

        11       therefore, what level of knowledge may be attributed to the

        12       company as a consequence of that.

        13

        14            Now, I did rise some week or so ago to contend to you,

        15       sir, that the extension of the inquiry into that area was

        16       one which, in our submission, was not authorised by the

        17       terms, and you, sir, responded to that and that matter is,

        18       for present purposes, at rest, because the Commission has

        19       decided that it is appropriate to investigate elements of

        20       Project Rose.  But it really does involve events after the

        21       Oil-for-Food, and looks at different issues, rather than

        22       non-compliance with Australian laws.  It tends to look at

        23       issues of governance, and the like, which will inevitably

        24       give rise to very difficult problems in the management of

        25       legal professional privilege, if it is to be maintained, in

        26       relation to that matter.  It is as if this Commission were

        27       investigating a piece of litigation.

        28

        29            The problem that you, sir, raise, is a very real one,

        30       because, in effect, if I can perhaps rearticulate in my

        31       words what I understand you to have said, if the directors

        32       are seeking to contend before the Commission - not prove a

        33       point, but seeking to contend --

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Establish.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   -- or establish on their own part that they had

        38       a particular level of knowledge about facts concerning

        39       Project Rose, then it may be said --

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Not concerning Project Rose, concerning

        42       their knowledge.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Their outcome of the knowledge of Project Rose -

        45       for example, if they are given a briefing on what has been

        46       discovered, or the like.  Then it would seem to follow that

        47       they are entitled to be examined about the credibility of



            .8/3/06 (42)               4155

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       the contention they make, and, in those circumstances, the

         2       material presented to them can be exposed.

         3

         4            Now, there are two possibilities there, and I don't

         5       want to overcomplicate this, but perhaps one possibility is

         6       examination about what information they were given, what

         7       facts they were told, what had been uncovered; and advice

         8       about the consequence of those facts.  So there may be two

         9       kinds of information conveyed.

        10

        11            For the most part, if we assume for present purposes

        12       that the presentations that were made to the board, if I

        13       can call it that, were in effect bringing the board up to

        14       date with the level of knowledge of those participating -

        15       those carrying out the investigation - and the directors

        16       want to maintain a particular position about that, we would

        17       be hard pressed to stop the inquiry going into that matter.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   What that means, though, is that they

        20       could be examined about what they were told.  It means we

        21       would have to re-call all of those people who it is said

        22       told them whatever they were told.  Those people were not

        23       examined because of the claim for privilege for Project

        24       Rose.  We would be permitted to ask those people -

        25       Mr Cooper, whoever they were - what they said, and it would

        26       seem to me that may lead back to an entitlement to ask

        27       Mr Cooper and others who told them that whether in fact

        28       they were telling them accurately what they knew.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   Yes.  What that does, sir, if I can perhaps take

        31       what you said to suggest again that that kind of our

        32       inquiry, in our submission, while interesting, doesn't

        33       assist in the determination of the issues before this

        34       inquiry, and it is really for that reason that we contended

        35       some time ago that - saying it is not relevant is not

        36       perhaps the right way of putting it, but it was outside the

        37       intended scope of this inquiry, for the very reason that

        38       you articulate.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am not sure.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   Because it becomes an inquiry into Project Rose.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it doesn't, I don't think, because

        45       one of the things I may have to consider is whether there

        46       have been any breaches of the Corporations Act, whether

        47       there has been any failure of directors to perform their
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         1       duties adequately.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   In relation to the matters the subject of the

         4       Volcker Report, and therefore --

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   And that would all depend upon what

         7       they knew about those matters.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   But with respect, sir, this is not an inquiry

        10       into the adequacy of the response by the board or

        11       management or anybody else to investigations by Volcker; it

        12       is an inquiry into the matters reported by Volcker.  So

        13       that if there is a question of corporate governance arising

        14       legitimately under the terms of reference, it must, in our

        15       submission, be one that relates to conduct in connection

        16       with the Oil-for-Food Program and its implementation, not

        17       the response by the company and the adequacy of its own

        18       internal investigation.  That's where the problem, in our

        19       submission, lies.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think that's a far too narrow view of

        22       the terms of reference.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Well --

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   That would mean that one could not

        27       examine the response of the company, the board or the

        28       directors to the events.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   After the fact.  After the fact.  In other

        31       words, did the board or management respond appropriately to

        32       an investigation commenced initially by the United States

        33       Senate and subsequently by the United Nations - did they

        34       respond appropriately to that - and thereby look at the

        35       level of knowledge of the board in examining whether the

        36       responses were open and frank, whether the responses

        37       involved full cooperation or less than full cooperation.

        38       That, in our submission, is the problem with extending into

        39       this area, and that --

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   But term of reference (a) says:

        42

        43            whether any decision, action, conduct,

        44            payment or writing of any of the three

        45            Australian companies mentioned in the Final

        46            Report...of the Independent Inquiry

        47            Committee...or any person associated with
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         1            one of those companies --

         2

         3       which must include the directors and senior management --

         4

         5            might have constituted a breach of any law

         6            of the Commonwealth, a State or

         7            Territory...

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I have just had it handed to me now.  It

        10       is confined, in our submission, to the decisions, actions,

        11       conduct, payment or writing mentioned in the final report.

        12       It is not an investigation in relation to --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it is the three Australian

        15       companies mentioned in the final report.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   No, sir, with respect, if it were the case that

        18       the draftsmen of these particular terms of reference

        19       intended by that phrase "mentioned in the final report" to

        20       define the Australian companies, it seems, in our

        21       submission, extraordinary - they could have been identified

        22       very simply by name.  What is intended there, in our

        23       submission, is the decisions, actions, conduct, payment or

        24       writing mentioned in the final report.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I don't agree with that.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   It is, in our submission, an inquiry which is

        29       limited in time, not simply an inquiry into companies at

        30       large.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:  In my view, a proper construction of

        33       clause (a) restricts the inquiry into three Australian

        34       companies.  It is restricted by reference to decisions,

        35       actions, conducts, payments or writings which relate in

        36       some fashion to the activities which are referred to in the

        37       Oil-for-Food report.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Well, in our submission, sir, with the greatest

        40       respect, we contend otherwise.  We say that it is the

        41       decisions, actions, conduct mentioned in the final report.

        42       Were it otherwise, it is, first of all, not confined in

        43       time, and it is, in our submission, as a matter of proper

        44       construction --

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is obviously not meant for me to go

        47       back and look at what they did in 1910; it is related to
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         1       matters which come to light in relation to the Oil-for-Food

         2       Program.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   Sir, the relationship is the decisions, actions,

         5       conduct, payment, et cetera.  That's the relationship.

         6       That's why we have been contending for some time that this

         7       line of inquiry into Project Rose is one which is not

         8       authorised, but the Commission has taken a different view.

         9       But in a sense, if I can say this, it is a self-induced

        10       problem of the Commission by embarking into what is an

        11       inherently troublesome area of an investigation into an

        12       investigation.  In our submission, that was just never

        13       intended.  It is an investigation which gives rise to the

        14       very problems we are confronting now.  Had the Commonwealth

        15       intended, we would have thought, to engage in an

        16       investigation into an investigation as part of --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   When these terms of reference were

        19       drafted, I expect nobody knew there had been an AWB

        20       investigation called Project Rose.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Sir, it may be putting it too highly to say that

        23       the Commonwealth didn't know there was an investigation.

        24       That being so, steps could have been taken to remedy the

        25       very problem we are addressing.  Namely, an amendment to

        26       the Royal Commissions Act would have resolved the whole

        27       issue.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   That involves serious matters of public

        30       policy, which is not something that government would rush

        31       into, I wouldn't expect.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   Precisely.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   You may be assured I will be making

        36       some recommendations about that.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   I well understand that, sir.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   But the alternative, if there is any

        41       doubt about it, may be for me to seek an amendment to the

        42       terms of the letters patent yet again.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   If that is to be so, if this is to be an

        45       investigation into an investigation, it places an entirely

        46       different dimension on the scope of the inquiry.  To

        47       contend that witnesses have gone which would have to be
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         1       recalled, sir, is perhaps, with respect, putting it a

         2       little highly, because Mr Cooper hasn't finished his

         3       evidence.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   He will be recalled anyway.

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   He is the person who is at the heart of this.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   This Commission, at present, has no

        10       interest at all in determining what was established by what

        11       has been called Project Rose, except insofar as it relates

        12       to knowledge of people.  And, as you know, we have been

        13       trying to track who knew what when, and that leads,

        14       ultimately, to the position we are in now, where the

        15       directors, who have an interest in saying they were not

        16       informed, may not be able to do so.  That's the bizarre

        17       situation which arises from the claim of privilege, as it

        18       turns out, and it is not a situation which I think the

        19       directors ought to be in.  But anyway, that's not a matter

        20       for me.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   One course, sir, which we proposed in the past -

        23       and it may be unpalatable because of the time it would

        24       occupy - is to ask relevant directors about their knowledge

        25       of facts and/or whether they have seen particular

        26       documents, and the like.  I understand that an answer to a

        27       question "yes" or "no" is difficult then to challenge by

        28       reason of the fact that one can't then go back and look at

        29       the Project Rose briefings to see if there was some other

        30       information that was provided.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   But commonsense would tell me that

        33       directors who are briefed on the outcome of Project Rose

        34       are unlikely to have been shown documents; they are likely

        35       to have been told what the outcome was.  If they are told

        36       that, and they want to say they were not told of the

        37       circumstances of payments which might possibly be in breach

        38       of sanctions, it does seem to me to raise the problem that

        39       that opens up for examination - what they were told as well

        40       as what they say they were not told.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   I am not cavilling with the proposition, sir,

        43       that if a director wants to maintain a particular state of

        44       mind about a level of knowledge, and the director is asked

        45       questions about the level of knowledge, then it would seem

        46       to follow that the disclosure to the director is in issue,

        47       and the question is how far one then inquires back into



            .8/3/06 (42)               4160

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       whether or not Project Rose appropriately disclosed

         2       information or withheld information, and the like.

         3

         4            That's perhaps the area that is most troublesome - not

         5       the area that addresses the mind of a director.  If we get

         6       into an examination of the adequacy of the investigation of

         7       Project Rose or the thoroughness of information given to

         8       the board, rather than what the board actually knew or was

         9       told, we could be here for two or three months.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   So be it.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   In our submission, it was not intended as part

        14       of this investigation that that kind of examination would

        15       be undertaken.  It doesn't bear on the corporate governance

        16       issues, which you, sir, contend, if I may put it that way,

        17       are authorised under the terms of reference.  We say they

        18       are not.  But it would be unauthorised, in our submission,

        19       to extend beyond that into the actual administration,

        20       adequacy, et cetera, of Project Rose, and we would have to

        21       consider our position on that.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, if there is any question of

        24       whether or not what we have been doing to date is within

        25       the terms of reference, then I would like to know that now,

        26       and I would like to know what you say is outside the terms

        27       of reference, because, first of all, I would like to

        28       consider it, and, secondly, I have not understood from you

        29       before that that was the position - perhaps that's my

        30       misunderstanding, but I haven't.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   I thought I made submissions a couple of weeks

        33       ago on this.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   You may well have, but I don't recall

        36       it being put on the basis that I had no jurisdiction to go

        37       where we have gone for the last few weeks.  If that's your

        38       client's position, two things arise:  the first is that you

        39       have not taken any proceedings in the Federal Court to

        40       restrain me from doing what we have been doing for the last

        41       three or four weeks; but, secondly, if there is any doubt

        42       about it, I will seek clarification by asking the Attorney

        43       to have the terms of reference amended.  I mean, I don't

        44       want this to go off on some side-wind or technicality.

        45       This is a substantial investigation of major importance to

        46       this community.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Well, you can be confident, sir, that we

         2       don't --

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't want the situation to arise,

         5       when I report in accordance with what I understand to be

         6       the terms of reference, where somebody then goes to a court

         7       and says, "The Commissioner was not entitled to make those

         8       findings because they are outside the terms of reference".

         9       I want to put that on the record now.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   I hadn't thought there was any ambiguity about

        12       what I said a couple of weeks ago.  You may recall, sir,

        13       that it arose in connection with the investigation into

        14       Project Rose and it was put by us that it was outside the

        15       terms of reference, and we had an exchange in relation to

        16       its relevance to, I think it was put, consciousness of

        17       guilt, or something of that sort.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't recall that exchange.  I will

        20       need you to refresh my recollection.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Or some state of mind.  I can find the passage

        23       and perhaps raise it again.  We have certainly expressed

        24       that view before.  Perhaps it wasn't expressed by reference

        25       to the words in the terms of reference and perhaps in quite

        26       the same way as I have put it today, but we do contend that

        27       an investigation into the adequacy of Project Rose would

        28       not be authorised.  We will have to consider our position

        29       on that, and we understand what you have said about that,

        30       sir.

        31

        32            As far as the directors are concerned - could

        33       I trouble the Commission to take a five-minute adjournment?

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   I would like to consider this.  If it be the

        38       case that there is a variation to the terms of reference to

        39       embrace or clarify the scope of inquiry, then that has a

        40       consequence that we have to consider and it may have a

        41       bearing upon the way in which the directors give evidence.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   You will understand that I can't just

        44       amend the terms of reference, I have to seek them, and it

        45       is a matter for government whether it would grant them.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Yes.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   But my present view is that the way we

         3       have been acting does accord with the present terms of

         4       reference.  I would propose to continue with that

         5       understanding, unless someone tells me I am wrong, and if

         6       they tell me I am wrong, I will seek to have the terms of

         7       reference clarified.  I also think we have reached a

         8       situation where, as presently advised, I do not think the

         9       directors can give evidence about what they were not told

        10       unless there is an opening up of the whole of Project Rose.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I understand the position, sir.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will take a brief adjournment.

        15

        16       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Thank you for that opportunity, Commissioner.

        19       The page reference to the previous submission is 3302.

        20       That was when the issue was raised.    It has also been

        21       raised - this is our contention in relation to the terms of

        22       reference - in correspondence with the Commission in

        23       relation to some notices in connection with Pakistan and

        24       those issues.  So we have advanced this position before.

        25

        26            Could I just summarise it in this way:  the first

        27       position is, to make it absolutely clear, we say, sir, that

        28       on a proper construction of the terms of reference an

        29       inquiry into the response by the board to published

        30       allegations or the Volcker Inquiry, or the like, is not

        31       authorised.  The response to Volcker, the Volcker Inquiry

        32       itself, to its request for information and the like, is not

        33       an authorised part of the investigation.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Sorry, the response of the board to the

        36       allegations or the Volcker Report is not authorised?

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Perhaps I can backtrack.  The response by the

        39       board to allegations generally of misconduct in connection

        40       with the Iraqi market, which commenced, as you will recall,

        41       sir, in mid-2003 with the Wheat Associates' letter, and

        42       soon thereafter there was a task force set up.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you suggesting I cannot investigate

        45       the Canadian complaint or the US Wheat Associates'

        46       complaint?

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   No, it is the response by the board to those

         2       matters - the response by the board; the response by the

         3       board to the Volcker Inquiry; the response by the board or

         4       by management in setting up the Project Rose inquiry; the

         5       competency of the Project Rose inquiry, or the adequacy of

         6       reporting to the board by the Project Rose inquiry.

         7

         8            We say that those matters, sir, are not authorised

         9       because we contend, having regard to the terms of

        10       reference, as we have already advanced to you, that what is

        11       authorised is an investigation into the decision, action,

        12       conduct, payment or writing mentioned in the report, in the

        13       Volcker Report.  That is made clear, in our submission, by

        14       the recital as well as the terms of subparagraph (a).

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Doesn't that mean that if Mr Volcker

        17       didn't find it I can't investigate it?  I thought the whole

        18       purpose of this inquiry was the opposite.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   What you can investigate, sir, is the subject

        21       matter of Mr Volcker's report.  The subject matter

        22       relevantly is whether or not the conduct of AWB in

        23       entering into and executing contracts under the

        24       Oil-for-Food Program involved a breach of Australian law.

        25

        26            If one goes further and looks at the issue of the

        27       board's response or the response by management in

        28       establishing Project Rose, apart from the conduct of the

        29       board of directors in relation to the general performance

        30       of their duties as directors after the fact, if that be

        31       relevant - and we say it is not authorised - but the

        32       circumstances of Project Rose, its adequacy and the like,

        33       and its reporting to the board, can't, in our submission,

        34       possibly or reasonably involve a breach of Australian law

        35       such that you, sir, would be authorised to report on that

        36       matter.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   So what's the cut-off date?

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   The cut-off date - the conduct concluded with

        41       the Oil-for-Food Program.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   November 2004?

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   With the conclusion.  The subject matter is

        46       referred to in Volcker.  The contracts are identified in

        47       the Volcker Report.  It is the --
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't want there to be any lack of

         3       clarity here.  The last two contracts under the

         4       Oil-for-Food Program were 1670 and 1680, I think, and

         5       I think delivery of those occurred around about November

         6       2004.  I think the Oil-for-Food Program ceased in

         7       about November 2004.  Have I got that right?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   No, the Oil-for-Food Program ceased earlier than

        10       that --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's 2003.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   -- but the execution of the contracts was

        15       completed towards the end of 2004.  That's my recollection.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   So that's the cut-off date?

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   That would be the cut-off date, but the

        20       examination is in relation to the contracts, sir.  That is

        21       the conduct which is under investigation, and that is the

        22       conduct about which this inquiry is authorised to make

        23       findings as to whether or not it breached Australian law

        24       and therefore we say the response by the board and the

        25       response by management is outside the scope of the terms of

        26       reference.

        27

        28            We say that not just because of the words in the terms

        29       of reference, but because, for the most part, if not

        30       completely, the conduct involved in the response by the

        31       board and management is not susceptible to a breach of

        32       Australian law, except to the extent that it may be said

        33       that there was some breach of duty of directors not about

        34       the Oil-for-Food Program and the execution of contracts,

        35       but about their general duties in relation to the aftermath

        36       and the investigation, and therefore we say that wouldn't

        37       be a proper matter for investigation.

        38

        39            The issue was raised by you this morning, sir - you

        40       said you had thought about it overnight.  The fact is that

        41       we contend that the evidence of Mr Stewart was given in

        42       circumstances where, while there were difficulties

        43       confronting the examination by reason of the question of

        44       privilege, it did not inhibit his examination, and we

        45       submit that it should not inhibit the examination of

        46       subsequent directors in the same way.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   What does that mean?

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   That means they can be asked questions about

         4       what they knew.  Insofar as directors are required to give

         5       evidence of a state of mind of the kind that you raised

         6       earlier, sir, about the --

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   When you say they can give evidence

         9       about what they knew, does that mean they can give evidence

        10       about what they were told?

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   They can be asked about information, just as

        13       Mr Stewart was, "When did you first know fact A, fact B,

        14       fact C."   They can be shown documents.  But, as you say,

        15       sir, it is unlikely that that is a very productive line of

        16       inquiry.  But certainly they can be asked questions about

        17       when they first knew about crucial facts.

        18

        19            If that is a relevant inquiry - and we say it is not,

        20       because their response and their after-the-fact knowledge

        21       is not - assuming for present purposes that they are

        22       examined about those matters, as was Mr Stewart, they can

        23       say what they knew.

        24

        25            If we assume for present purposes that those answers

        26       are given, it does not, in our submission, give rise to any

        27       implied waiver of privilege.  We have made submissions

        28       before, sir, in connection with the waiver of privilege

        29       issue, and it is our submission that the notion of implied

        30       waiver does not apply in these circumstances.  Merely by a

        31       director putting his mind into issue, as it were, which is

        32       a misnomer in our submission - they are not putting their

        33       mind into issue, what they are doing is responding to a

        34       question - but even if they put their mind in issue in this

        35       proceeding, or this inquiry, it does not follow that there

        36       is an implied waiver of privilege in relation to

        37       information coming to the board from Project Rose.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why not?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Because the notion of implied waiver is one

        42       based upon fairness in litigation, and in this proceeding

        43       the witness, or AWB, is not here to prove anything.  It is

        44       not a case of the witness relying upon a state of mind to

        45       advance a position and bearing a burden of proof.  It is in

        46       those circumstances that the implied waiver arises when

        47       state of mind is put in issue and it can be rightly said
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         1       that, having advanced a state of mind, you can't do so

         2       without giving an opportunity to the other side to go

         3       behind it in the interests of fairness.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   But isn't that precisely what the

         6       position would be?  If AWB says, "We as a company, and we

         7       as a board of AWB, maintain a claim of privilege in

         8       relation to Project Rose", yet you maintain that a board

         9       can nonetheless say, "Whilst we will not tell you what's in

        10       Project Rose, or what its outcomes were, we want to tell

        11       you that we weren't told anything about the subject matter

        12       of relevance."

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's approbating and reprobating.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   No, sir, it is not.  It is not for this reason:

        19       this is not an adversarial proceeding.  This is an inquiry.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Absolutely.

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   Each director, or a director and AWB, or,

        24       indeed, any person attending here, does not have a case to

        25       present, is not presenting a position where they are

        26       saying, "This is my burden of proof and I discharge it by

        27       saying A, B or C."  They are here to respond to questions

        28       and be compelled to respond if they don't.  In those

        29       circumstances, it is our submission that the occasion does

        30       not arise for an implied waiver arising from the fact that

        31       a person says "I knew" or "didn't know" of a particular

        32       fact or circumstance.  It does not give rise to a waiver.

        33       So that even if the Commission proceeds down the path

        34       that --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, I just don't follow the

        37       logic of what you are putting to me.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Well, perhaps I will repeat it again and

        40       endeavour to --

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I mean, the board members are, so we

        43       now know, those who unanimously decided that AWB would take

        44       the point of legal professional privilege.  They

        45       individually and collectively said this inquiry will not be

        46       told anything which is protected by legal professional

        47       privilege.  But they, individually, want to come along and
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         1       say, "But we weren't told things".

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   And that's because - first of all, we will

         4       continue to reject the proposition that the claim has been

         5       made for any particular purpose.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I did not mention purpose.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, there is a big difference between

        10       a person, an individual, having a claim to legal

        11       professional privilege and a company in the position of

        12       AWB.  An individual can be at ease deciding for him or

        13       herself whether to waive the privilege.  Company directors

        14       cannot do that in their own self interest; they must act in

        15       the interests of the company as a whole.  That gives rise

        16       to very, very different considerations, and it is not a

        17       matter for them to say, "Is it in our interests to enable

        18       us to come and get in the witness box and assume a burden

        19       of proof which we don't have, just to try and exculpate our

        20       position?"

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   There are no questions of burden of

        23       proof.  It is a question of the evidence that they

        24       apparently want to give.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   But the concept that you are advancing,

        27       Commissioner, if I may say so, that leads to the

        28       proposition that there is an implied waiver of privilege is

        29       based upon the notion that there is a burden of proof.  The

        30       underlying concept is litigation.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it is not at all.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   In our submission, it does not apply in

        35       circumstances such as this, where there is no such burden.

        36       We say, first of all, the questions that might be asked of

        37       these people about what they knew, after the event, of the

        38       results of Project Rose are not authorised; they are

        39       irrelevant.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand that.  That's a different

        42       point.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   But if those questions are to be asked and they

        45       respond, as they do under compulsion, it cannot be said

        46       that that results in an implied waiver of privilege.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   That really means, at least where there

         2       is a corporate entity involved in a inquiry such as this,

         3       no question of waiver can ever arise.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Correct, unless the board decides otherwise.

         6       There can be waiver in different circumstances.  Let me

         7       give you an example, sir.  We were asked to consider a

         8       memorandum, which we dealt with with our friends this

         9       morning, from Mr Hargreaves to Mr Lindberg in relation to

        10       following the June meeting with government.  There is a

        11       reference in this memorandum --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have seen that.  Can I have a copy of

        14       it, please?  It was shown to me this morning.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   This is by way of example.  There is a reference

        17       in that memorandum to something which hasn't hitherto

        18       emerged in the evidence, to the suggestion that legal

        19       advice was conveyed to government.  Now, if that is so,

        20       privilege has gone.  We have addressed that issue.  You

        21       will see the last dot point on that particular page.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, is the document AWB.0332.0412?

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Headed "Legally privileged.  Prepared

        28       for the purpose of obtaining legal advice"?

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   Yes, we don't maintain this document was

        31       privileged.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   It plainly wasn't.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   No.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   It has nothing to do with a claim for

        38       legal privilege and this document has nothing to do with

        39       the obtaining of legal advice.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   We have not maintained a claim for legal

        42       professional privilege in relation to this document.  The

        43       point I make, sir, is only in connection with waiver, and

        44       if turns out, as appears from this document, that a QC's

        45       opinion was conveyed, or the substance of it, to

        46       government, it is waived, and if that is the evidence --

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   -- it will be produced.  But it is a very

         4       different thing to see waiver arising impliedly, as you,

         5       with respect, are contending, sir, because a director is

         6       compelled to answer a question in this inquiry.  We say it

         7       just doesn't follow, and no such implied waiver results,

         8       and therefore it doesn't mean that a response to a question

         9       of that sort is going to enable this Commission in any

        10       event to investigate the adequacy or otherwise of Project

        11       Rose.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, there is another problem that

        14       this document throws up.  If you go to the last dot point

        15       under "Highlights since last board report", that makes

        16       entirely plain - to my mind, at least - that Project Rose

        17       has got nothing to do with questions of obtaining or giving

        18       of legal advice; it's related to the management of the

        19       fall-out of the Volcker Inquiry.  If you go to the --

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Sir, those sorts of matters are classically

        22       privileged occasions - the management of fall-out of a

        23       Volcker Inquiry.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   By engaging public relations

        26       consultants?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   The work product of public relations

        29       consultants, no; the work product of lawyers, yes.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  But what it means is that there

        32       may be within Project Rose some aspects which are related

        33       to legal advice and its giving, but there is a lot which is

        34       not.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, we are constantly addressing the

        37       question of what is privileged and what is not.  That's a

        38       matter that conventionally only we can do, and it is a

        39       responsibility that rests on us to do, and we don't

        40       discharge that responsibility lightly.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand that.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   We are continuing to review documents, and where

        45       we think a claim is not appropriately made, we will review

        46       it and withdraw it in circumstances where it seems to be

        47       appropriate.  This is one example of that event.  No claim
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         1       has been made for this document, notwithstanding the

         2       heading.

         3

         4            The point I was making was simply this:  the mere fact

         5       that a director answers a question - what may be regarded

         6       in a trial as putting in issue a state of mind - does not

         7       in this proceeding have the effect of waiving privilege in

         8       relation to Project Rose.

         9

        10            The extent to which Project Rose may be privileged is

        11       a different matter, and that's one that is a practical

        12       matter that we have to continue to review.  I don't want to

        13       spend more time than is absolutely necessary to convey to

        14       you, sir, that our instructions haven't changed in relation

        15       to maintaining privilege, and in the circumstances, in our

        16       submission, the evidence of the directors can continue in

        17       the same way as did Mr Stewart's, but we will now be

        18       obliged to consider our position in relation to proceedings

        19       to have these particular terms of reference defined.  We

        20       don't want to have that process interrupt unnecessarily the

        21       flow of business here, and we think that it need not, but

        22       it does seem that there is a serious issue about the scope

        23       of the terms of reference, and, that being so, it is one

        24       that ought to be resolved.

        25

        26            We accept, as you said, sir, it is not a matter for

        27       you in the end as to whether or not the terms are enlarged

        28       or changed in some way, but a necessary first step, having

        29       regard to the way in which you, sir, interpret the terms of

        30       reference, would seem to be to have that resolution take

        31       place.  That, with some goodwill, could be resolved, we

        32       would have thought, expeditiously.

        33

        34            It may mean that ultimately, if the scope is changed,

        35       some witnesses may have to be recalled, but if that's the

        36       case, sir, then so be it.  Our position is that, as

        37       presently advised, an investigation into the matters I have

        38       identified involving the conduct of the board is beyond

        39       power and outside the scope of the authority.  That was the

        40       substance of what was said earlier, although not in so many

        41       words.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I have to say I didn't understand

        44       until this morning that you had put a submission of that

        45       nature.  Now I do, I will certainly take the appropriate

        46       steps to approach the government to have the terms of

        47       reference clarified.
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   Sir, let me understand this, if I may.  Is the

         3       mere suggestion, if I may be bold enough to ask, that we

         4       would seek to have the terms clarified by the Federal Court

         5       the basis for you, sir, to approach the government?  We

         6       would have thought that the appropriate thing is to have

         7       the meaning of those terms adjudicated and clarified in

         8       their current form.  Simply to approach the government in

         9       our submission may not assist at all, because it may give

        10       rise to further contention about the scope unless the terms

        11       of reference are significantly revised to clarify the issue

        12       that we are concerned about, and that is the limitation of

        13       the scope of this inquiry to that which is reported in

        14       Volcker.  We would not like to think, sir, that in some way

        15       we are being dissuaded from seeking clarification of that

        16       point.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is entirely a matter for you and

        19       your client what your client does.  It is entirely a matter

        20       for me what I put to the government.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   That's, perhaps --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   And it is entirely a matter for the

        25       government what they do about my request.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I think that's as far as I can take it at

        28       this point, sir, and may I say that, in our submission, the

        29       witnesses should be examined in much the same way as

        30       Mr Stewart, without any fear that what might be said gives

        31       rise to the implied waiver.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  As I think I have made

        34       clear, this morning is the first time that I have

        35       understood that it has been suggested that this inquiry has

        36       in any way been operating outside the proper construction

        37       of the terms of reference.  I now have Mr Judd's

        38       submission, in which he has indicated AWB's view in

        39       relation to the scope of those terms of reference.  Are

        40       there any other parties who wish to make submissions in

        41       relation to the present scope of the terms of reference or

        42       the manner in which the Commission has been conducting

        43       itself and the extent to which we have conducted

        44       investigations so far as the terms of reference are

        45       concerned, because I should make clear that I do intend to

        46       approach the Attorney-General to seek a clarification of

        47       the terms of reference.  I should also make clear, I do not
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         1       agree with the submissions that AWB has advanced, but I do

         2       not want any question of lack of power to stultify the work

         3       of this Commission.

         4

         5            Are there any other submissions that any party wishes

         6       to put in relation to the terms of reference - Mr Barker?

         7

         8       MR BARKER:   Mr Commissioner, I do have an objection to a

         9       substantial part of the statement of Mr Moffet which is to

        10       be tendered, but on a much narrower basis than has been

        11       discussed between you and Mr Judd.  We simply say that the

        12       material in paragraphs 68 and 70 to 78 is quite remote from

        13       your terms of reference, and really adds nothing useful to

        14       the narrative.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   That may be an evidentiary objection,

        17       perhaps, rather than a --

        18

        19       MR BARKER:   That's it.  It is not within, perhaps, the

        20       wide purpose which has been the subject of debate this

        21       morning, but I thought I should raise it.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        24

        25       MR ALLEN:   On behalf of Mr Lindberg, Mr Commissioner,

        26       having heard the arguments advanced by Mr Judd, we support

        27       those arguments.  We have nothing to add to them.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Does anybody else wish to

        30       add anything?  Very well.  Thank you.  Mr Agius, is there

        31       anything you wish to say?

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   It is our submission, Mr Commissioner, that my

        34       learned friend's construction of the terms of reference is

        35       unduly narrow, and we do not approach the terms of

        36       reference in that way and we would put a submission in

        37       favour of an approach to government to have those terms of

        38       reference reviewed for the sake of clarification.

        39

        40            What we do not want is to have any doubt about the

        41       basis upon which we are proceeding.  It is not a matter

        42       that we think can only be settled by litigation.  We think

        43       this is a matter that can be settled as a matter of

        44       administrative action.  It's more immediate; indeed, much

        45       less expensive.  They are the only submissions we would

        46       make in that regard.

        47



            .8/3/06 (42)               4173

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            I can indicate that it is not any part of our role, as

         2       we see it, to make any submissions as to the adequacy of

         3       the investigations conducted by Project Rose, save insofar

         4       as they may impact upon corporate governance issues which,

         5       in our respectful submission, do fall within the terms of

         6       reference.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Very well.  Thank you.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   I will then move to call the next witness, who

        11       is Mr Moffet.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which were the paragraphs you referred

        14       to?

        15

        16       MR BARKER:   68 and 70 to 78 inclusive.

        17

        18       <CHRISTOPHER DUNCAN MOFFET, sworn:           [11.58am]

        19

        20       MR LUNDBERG:   Sir, I wonder if I might rise before we

        21       begin.  Lundberg is my name.  I sought authorisation last

        22       week to appear on behalf of Mr Moffet.  I note Mr Barker's

        23       objection to paragraphs of the statement.  I am not sure

        24       how you propose to proceed in relation to the reception of

        25       those paragraphs, but we would wish to be heard in due

        26       course, if it please the Commission.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well, thank you.  Pardon me

        29       while I read those paragraphs.  Mr Agius --

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Can I perhaps address the paragraphs?  For my

        32       part, we see paragraph 68 as being only introductory, and

        33       it can only be read in that way, and on that basis we would

        34       seek its inclusion.  I would not seek the inclusion of

        35       paragraph 70, and I would not seek the inclusion of that

        36       part of paragraph 75 which is the second

        37       paragraph commencing "I refer to the media report".

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   75?

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   The second paragraph in 75 commences with the

        42       words "I refer to the media report of Mr Flugge's

        43       comments".  I wouldn't seek the inclusion of that.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I must have a different statement.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   The statement that we are proceeding with is
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         1       the one marked WST.0020.0002.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I see, yes.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   It is dated 3 March, and it makes some

         6       typographical corrections.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can you start again, then, please.

         9       Paragraph 68?

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Paragraph 68 we see as only being introductory.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Paragraph 69?

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Paragraph 69 there is no objection to.

        16       Paragraph 70 we wouldn't press - we wouldn't press to have

        17       it included.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Then paragraph 75, we do press the first

        22       paragraph, but not the remainder of paragraph 75.  We

        23       wouldn't press paragraph 76 or paragraph 77.

        24

        25            The key, in our respectful submission, to the

        26       admission of paragraphs 71 and 72 is to be found in the

        27       first sentence.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   After the words "exceptionally difficult", and

        32       the balance of paragraph 71 is an example of that, and

        33       paragraph 72 is an example of that.  In our respectful

        34       submission, evidence to that is relevant on the issue as to

        35       why it was that the board may or may not have had a certain

        36       state of knowledge at any particular time, why it was that

        37       the board may or may not have intervened at any particular

        38       time.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   By the board, I mean the board as a board and

        43       also individual board members.  In relation to

        44       paragraph 73, the same point is really made, except in

        45       relation to Mr Rogers.  Now, there is already evidence

        46       about Mr Rogers' managerial approach and, on that basis, it

        47       is our submission that paragraph 73 is relevant.
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         1       Paragraph 74 we support for the same reasons that we

         2       support paragraphs 71 and 72.

         3

         4            We also say in relation to paragraph 74 that Mr Flugge

         5       has already given evidence as to the circumstances

         6       surrounding the issues raised in paragraph 74, and that, on

         7       that basis, Mr Moffet's evidence is relevant, even if only

         8       to meet Mr Flugge's evidence, although it is not a matter

         9       upon which I will be asking Mr Moffet any further

        10       questions.  But at the moment we only have Mr Flugge's

        11       evidence in relation to paragraph 74.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   In relation to paragraph 78, there has already

        16       been evidence from Mr Flugge and Mr Stewart in relation to

        17       paragraph 78, and paragraph 78 goes to Mr Moffet's state of

        18       knowledge as to the circumstances of the visit to Iraq in

        19       2002, and in our respectful submission that is a relevant

        20       matter, even if only from the point of view of Mr Moffet

        21       and what findings might be made concerning his state of

        22       knowledge, and he ought to be permitted to say what his

        23       state of knowledge was as to Mr Flugge's appointment.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   They are the submissions we would make.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Barker?

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   I think Mr Lundberg had some submissions.

        32

        33       MR LUNDBERG:   Yes.  I apologise to Mr Barker.  If it

        34       expedites matters, Commissioner, can I say I have had a

        35       discussion with Mr Agius this morning.  I haven't discussed

        36       any of these matters with Mr Barker.  We were made aware

        37       through counsel assisting yesterday there might be some

        38       issue taken.

        39

        40            Having discussed the matters with Mr Agius this

        41       morning before court, I am in a position to say, in light

        42       of what he has said to me and the points he has now made,

        43       we would not press paragraphs 70 - in effect, those

        44       paragraphs my friend Mr Agius has identified.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just run through:  you don't press 70?

        47
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         1       MR LUNDBERG:   75 - I apprehended that was the second and

         2       third paragraphs of 75.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Yes.

         5

         6       MR LUNDBERG:   And with respect to 76 and 77, they are

         7       really part of the narrative.  I think 77 is a matter of

         8       evidence already yesterday from Mr Stewart about the

         9       changeover.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   You don't press paragraphs 76 or 77?

        12

        13       MR LUNDBERG:   It seems to us, if Mr Agius doesn't wish to

        14       support it, there is little point in us pressing it, may it

        15       please you.  Can I just make an observation, Commissioner?

        16       I don't wish to repeat what Mr Agius has just said, but --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Don't do that.

        19

        20       MR LUNDBERG:   I certainly won't.  We should make an

        21       observation that Mr Moffet comes to this Commission in

        22       response to a summons as well as a detailed letter received

        23       from Mr Owbridge in January of this year.  Commissioner,

        24       that's a letter which details a significant number of

        25       matters which directors were asked to speak about.  They

        26       were asked to explain their knowledge of conduct of a whole

        27       range of matters.  Mr Moffet has done that.  I just wish to

        28       say, on Mr Moffet's behalf, we do not wish to be

        29       criticised, and we certainly, in our preparation for this

        30       matter, have been conscious of criticisms of other

        31       witnesses of failing to reveal particular matters to the

        32       Commission.

        33

        34            Mr Moffet is seeking to disclose his knowledge to this

        35       inquiry.  His comments in relation to Mr Flugge are part of

        36       his knowledge.  They are matters which concern his

        37       knowledge of Mr Flugge in his capacity as chairman.  They

        38       do not go into any private matters concerning Mr Flugge.

        39       Mr Agius has identified that some of these matters have

        40       already been the subject of evidence.

        41

        42            We are conscious as well, Commissioner, if I may say

        43       this, that by way of opening Mr Agius, to this Commission

        44       and to those who were listening, delivered an exhortation

        45       that witnesses be frank and open and part of the delivery

        46       of this witness statement has been an acknowledgement of

        47       that exhortation that my client should disclose all of his
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         1       knowledge.

         2

         3            Ultimately, it is a matter for this Commission whether

         4       the evidence is within the terms of reference and, if so,

         5       whether the evidence provides a rational basis for the

         6       Commission to make findings or draw inferences.  We note

         7       the position taken so far by this inquiry has involved an

         8       expansive approach to the reception of evidence and

         9       material - we have had a debate about that this morning -

        10       and that is consistent with our general understanding of

        11       the principles applicable to commissions such as this.

        12       I need not take you to the principles expressed in

        13       Dr Donohue's book.  You would be familiar with those, sir,

        14       about the general approach to matters of relevance for an

        15       inquiry of this nature.

        16

        17            Mr Moffet, by the introduction of paragraphs 68 and

        18       69 - and I see 69 is not objected to - is clearly not

        19       seeking to prejudge the outcome of this inquiry; he is

        20       setting out his knowledge of particular matters.  Part of

        21       his role in coming here is to attend before this inquiry to

        22       set out what he knows based on seven years on the board.

        23       That is really background to the material in respect of

        24       which Mr Barker takes objection.  May it please you.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.

        27

        28       MR BARKER:   Commissioner, this is all very interesting,

        29       but in my submission there is nothing in the material

        30       sought to be tendered which will give any assistance to you

        31       in determining whether there has been any breach of any

        32       law, Commonwealth, State or Territory.  I mean, we are

        33       getting into domestic matters, some of which speak

        34       apparently of the difficult working relationship referred

        35       to in paragraph 69 which have absolutely nothing to do with

        36       the issues under consideration and in contention before

        37       you.  Neither paragraph 71 nor paragraph 72 relates in any

        38       way to any wheat contract with Iraq.  Neither does

        39       paragraph 73, neither does paragraph 74 or 75.

        40

        41            To the extent that some evidence has already been

        42       given - and I am referring in particular to paragraph 78 -

        43       Mr Agius, in his expansive approach, led evidence.

        44       I perhaps should have objected to it, but I thought it was

        45       going to lead somewhere and it didn't.  It is no more

        46       relevant today than it was when it was led.  We were forced

        47       to deal with it as best we could in cross-examination
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         1       yesterday, but that doesn't make it any the more relevant.

         2       If it doesn't sit comfortably within the terms of reference

         3       then it ought not to be led at all.  Those are my

         4       submissions, Commissioner.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.  I will allow

         7       paragraphs 68 and 69.  I reject paragraphs 71 and 72.  I

         8       will allow paragraph 73.  I will reject paragraph 74.  I

         9       will reject paragraph 75.  I will allow paragraph 78.  Yes,

        10       Mr Agius.

        11

        12       MR BARKER:   I am sorry, I did speak with Mr Agius about

        13       this.  Could we have leave to file a supplementary

        14       statement from Mr Flugge in response to that?  I understand

        15       Browne v Dunn is not running in this Commission.  Thank

        16       you.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        19

        20       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might we have your full name for the

        23       record?

        24       A.   Yes, Christopher Duncan Moffet.

        25

        26       Q.   You appear here today in answer to a notice requiring

        27       your attendance?

        28       A.   I am here for that purpose.

        29

        30       Q.   Now, Mr Moffet, we have a statement from you, which is

        31       signed and dated 3 March 2006.  I will just show you the

        32       first and last pages.  It is WST.0020.0002.  The last

        33       page is at 0029.  This is a 28-page statement of 83

        34       paragraphs.  Is that your statement, Mr Moffet?

        35       A.   Yes, it is.

        36

        37       Q.   In paragraph 35 you refer to the opinion prepared by

        38       Sir Anthony Mason, and you record "The Board of the AWB has

        39       claimed privilege in relation to that legal advice and I am

        40       not authorised to waive that privilege".  You now

        41       understand that privilege in relation to that, if claimed,

        42       has now been waived?

        43       A.   Yes, I understand that.

        44

        45       Q.   So, with the exception of that matter --

        46       A.   Excuse me, that's paragraph 35?

        47
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         1       Q.   Paragraph 35.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   On page 0013.  With the exception of that matter, do

         5       you say that the contents of your statement are true and

         6       correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?

         7       A.   That is correct.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I tender it, and I tender with it the

        10       attachments, Mr Commissioner.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #519 STATEMENT OF CHRISTOPHER DUNCAN MOFFET,

        13       DATED 3/3/2006, BARCODED WST.0020.0002

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I think the attachments, as they do, refer to

        16       some material which is perhaps subject to a claim of

        17       confidentiality, so might the attachments be marked as a

        18       confidential exhibit?

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will mark the statement

        21       as exhibit 519 and the attachments at this stage as

        22       confidential exhibit 170C.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #170C ATTACHMENTS TO STATEMENT OF CHRISTOPHER

        25       DUNCAN MOFFET DATED 3/3/2006

        26

        27       MR BARKER:   Commissioner, could we have a non-publication

        28       order in respect of those paragraphs which have been

        29       rejected?

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  We will prepare an edited copy of the

        32       statement which removes the paragraphs.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   In the meantime I will make a

        35       non-publication order in respect of the rejected

        36       paragraphs.

        37

        38       MR LUNDBERG:  Sir, could I just note as well that some of

        39       the attachments will go with those paragraphs.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   We will attend to that in the preparation of

        42       the documents which will be marked as an exhibit.

        43

        44       Q.   Mr Moffet, do you have a copy of your statement?

        45       A.   Yes, I do.

        46

        47       MR ALLEN:   Commissioner, could I briefly interrupt - and
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         1       I am sorry to do so - this statement in two passages refers

         2       to a previous statement, and I anticipated that Mr Agius

         3       would follow the practice he had done in relation to other

         4       witnesses who have previously made a statement and then put

         5       in another statement.  He hasn't done that.  I wonder if he

         6       proposed to tender the previous statement as well, and if

         7       we could have copies of it.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I will look at that over lunch.  My

        10       understanding was that this statement incorporated the

        11       previous statement and just enlarged on it.  If there is

        12       any difference between that and this, it is a matter that

        13       hasn't been brought to my attention.  So I will look at

        14       that over lunch and deal with it at 2 o'clock.

        15

        16       THE WITNESS:   There is no difference.

        17

        18       MR LUNDBERG:   Mr Agius's understanding is correct.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        21

        22       MR ALLEN:   There seems to be a different statement yet

        23       again on the screen, Commissioner.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   WST.0020.0002.  That's what I see on my screen.

        26       I will be indebted if my friend could tell me what he sees

        27       on his.

        28

        29       MR ALLEN:   We see that, too.  What has been handed to us

        30       is a document which starts with the words "I Christopher

        31       Duncan Moffet" of an address, 0003.  Obviously what is on

        32       the screen is a brief introductory statement.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   0002 speaks of the prior statement and speaks

        35       of the circumstances in which the document which commences

        36       at 0003 came into being.

        37

        38       MR ALLEN:   Thank you.  I think that has been clarified

        39       now.  I have just been given a copy of the page that's on

        40       the screen, thank you.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Page 0002 is page 1 of the statement.

        43

        44       MR ALLEN:   Thank you.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Having sorted out those practical matters,

        47       Mr Moffet, can I ask you, if you would, to go to
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         1       paragraph 28 of your statement, which is barcoded at 0010?

         2       A.   Yes, I have that.

         3

         4       Q.   You say that, to the best of your recollection, when

         5       you first became aware of the contracts between AWB and the

         6       IGB in 1999 you were informed that the contracts were not

         7       the usual CIF and CNF or FOB contracts, you were made aware

         8       that the usual contracts with the IGB included the costs of

         9       inland transportation.  When you say that in your

        10       statement, that the usual contracts included the costs of

        11       inland transportation, are you referring to the contracts

        12       with the IGB in and from July of 1999?

        13       A.   From the time that I joined the board.

        14

        15       Q.   You would date that from January of 1999 - November of

        16       1998 for AWB and January of 1999 for AWBI?

        17       A.   It would have been at the first AWBI meeting that

        18       I had attended.

        19

        20       Q.   That would be January of 1999?

        21       A.   I can't be sure, Mr Agius, but it would have been in

        22       early 1999.

        23

        24       Q.   Or some time after January of 1999?

        25       A.   Correct.

        26

        27       Q.   You say you were led to believe at the time that this

        28       was the usual contractual arrangement with the IGB that had

        29       been entered into before you had been appointed to the

        30       boards.  What did you understand to have been the usual

        31       contractual arrangements before early 1999?

        32       A.   My understanding was that, as I have put in my

        33       statement, unlike the usual shipping contracts that I am

        34       familiar with, which are the three I have listed there, or

        35       the three freighting arrangements that are normal in wheat

        36       trade, Iraq had a special requirement that included the

        37       transportation of wheat post the waterfront because of the

        38       poor infrastructure of the Iraqi countryside.

        39

        40       Q.   And for what period of time prior to early 1999 were

        41       you given to believe that that was the usual contractual

        42       arrangement?

        43       A.   There was no time frame on it, Mr Agius.  It was in

        44       the context that we had been shipping wheat to Iraq for

        45       many years, and certainly in the - dealing with the regime

        46       that was in power at that time, that that was an

        47       established method.
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         1

         2       Q.   When was it, then, that you learnt that for the first

         3       time, in July 1999, the Iraqis were insisting on a term

         4       which included a payment by the AWB on account of what was

         5       termed "Discharge costs"?

         6       A.   That certainly was not in 1999.

         7

         8       Q.   Can you be more specific?  Was it prior to March of

         9       2003?

        10       A.   At - the addition of these charges, in whichever

        11       terminology you want to use them, Mr Agius, has only become

        12       apparent to myself in the latter period leading to this

        13       inquiry.  I believe my statement, in a further paragraph,

        14       would be more specific about that.

        15

        16       Q.   Could we go to paragraph 38.  You say in the second

        17       sentence:

        18

        19            I believe it was not until about May 2004

        20            (at the Board meeting I have referred to

        21            above), that Mr Lindberg informed the Board

        22            that the specific freight costs during the

        23            Oil-for-Food Programme had grown from

        24            approximately $US12 per tonne to around

        25            $US47.75...

        26

        27       Were you given any explanation as to the circumstances in

        28       which the specific freight costs had increased from $12 to

        29       $47.75?

        30       A.   The circumstances, as the Commission may be aware, was

        31       post the second war in Iraq several things had occurred

        32       there.  One is that the price of fuel had risen, but, more

        33       importantly, the sheer logistics of getting grain from the

        34       ports to the governorates was made much more difficult and

        35       onerous by the insurgency.  May I say at the start --

        36

        37       Q.   I think you misunderstood my question.  Would you look

        38       at paragraph 38?

        39       A.   Yes, I am.

        40

        41       Q.  :

        42

        43            I believe it was not until May 2004...that

        44            Mr Lindberg informed the Board that the

        45            specific freight costs during the

        46            Oil-for-Food Programme had grown from

        47            approximately $US12 per tonne to around
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         1            $US47.75 per tonne.  I was also informed by

         2            Mr Lindberg at that time that the AWB was

         3            still using the same trucking company and

         4            paying freight costs of about $US35 per

         5            tonne (and that this cost was being paid

         6            because of insurgency risks).

         7

         8       Now, I am asking you about what you were told about the

         9       freight costs during the course of the Oil-for-Food Program

        10       and the information that you received from Mr Lindberg that

        11       it had grown during that program from $12 to $47.75.  I am

        12       not asking you about the freight costs or the inland

        13       transport costs after the invasion of Iraq in March of

        14       2003.

        15       A.   Well, we weren't told as if it was any great concern

        16       to the company, if that's what you mean, Mr Agius.

        17

        18       Q.   Were you given any explanation as to the circumstances

        19       in which, during the Oil-for-Food Program, the freight

        20       costs, the inland transport costs, had risen from US$12 to

        21       US$47.75?

        22       A.   Not in any other way other than the cost of fuel

        23       increases and the insurgency risk that the trucking company

        24       felt were justified.  This was a management issue, the

        25       managing of the individual contracts into Iraq from

        26       Australia.

        27

        28       Q.   Were you given that explanation about the cost of fuel

        29       and insurgency risks in connection with the inland freight

        30       charges during the Oil-for-Food Program, or in connection

        31       with inland freight charges after the Oil-for-Food

        32       Program - after the invasion of Iraq in March of 2003?

        33

        34       MR LUNDBERG:   It might be that the answer would be better

        35       if we get some specific dates rather than the generic

        36       "Oil-for-Food Program" time period.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I would like to do that, but that's not what

        39       the statement says.  Let me try again.

        40

        41       Q.   Do I correctly understand your statement, Mr Moffet,

        42       that you are dealing with two different time periods - you

        43       are dealing with a period which is during the Oil-for-Food

        44       Program, and you are then dealing with the period as it was

        45       in May of 2004, when the freight costs were $35 a tonne?

        46       A.   Well, if my memory is correct, Mr Agius, we were still

        47       shipping wheat that was subject to Oil-for-Food Program
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         1       contracts.  And even though the OFF program had ceased,

         2       I was strongly of the opinion that these freight charges

         3       that Mr Lindberg reported to the board were for wheat that

         4       was part of the OFF program, bearing in mind that these

         5       reports are generally historical, are not up to date, and

         6       could refer to a period of anything up to three months

         7       prior to the report.

         8

         9       Q.   Well, did anybody query how it was that freight

        10       charges had grown from $12 to $47.75?

        11       A.   Yes.  Queries were, and I can't recall which directors

        12       specifically, but the explanation to us as given by

        13       Mr Lindberg was the very reasons I have already mentioned -

        14       higher insurgency risks, the greater risk of loss of trucks

        15       through insurgency activities, an increase of fuel costs

        16       because the cheap fuel under the previous regime had

        17       finished.

        18

        19       Q.   Over what period of time were you told that the fees

        20       had risen from US$12 to US$47.75?

        21       A.   Well, that's the first occasion that I have in my

        22       statement that we were actually informed of that, but the

        23       tone of Mr Lindberg's report to the board led me to accept

        24       that this was since the overthrow of the regime and the use

        25       of UN-approved processes.

        26

        27       Q.   You see, that's the point of my examination of you.

        28       I am really trying to understand what you mean by this

        29       sentence:

        30

        31            ...it was not until about May 2004...that

        32            Mr Lindberg informed the Board that the

        33            specific freight costs during the

        34            Oil-for-Food Programme had grown from

        35            approximately $US12 to $US47.75...

        36

        37       Now, one way of reading that is that during the

        38       Oil-for-Food Program, which relevantly ran from mid-1999

        39       until some time later in 2003, the inland freight charges

        40       ranged from $12 to $47.75.  Is that the way we should read

        41       that sentence?

        42       A.   I think I now understand what you mean, Mr Agius, and

        43       it may be more helpful to the Commissioner to point out

        44       that when I first asked the questions about the trucking,

        45       as per my joining the board, there was never any specific

        46       freight cost per tonne mentioned, and when Mr Lindberg has

        47       informed the board in May 2004, I believe he was covering
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         1       the period from the beginning of the program, or even the

         2       program when I joined the board, which was in late 1998,

         3       early 1999, that during that period it had grown.  But

         4       really I think what you are asking is - and I now

         5       understand your question more fully - that bearing in mind

         6       we had never been told what the freight rate was

         7       historically, then I believe that during this program it

         8       has risen from US$12 - bearing in mind I was never told

         9       that, neither was any other board member - to a peak of

        10       $47.75.

        11

        12       Q.   Were you ever told, in the course of this board

        13       meeting - let's deal with that first - in connection with

        14       this information about the growth in the inland freight

        15       charges, that it included a component which was 10 per cent

        16       of the CIF value of the contract?

        17       A.   No.  We were - I was not, and neither was the board,

        18       told that.  We were told in January of this year.

        19

        20       Q.   You deal with that in your statement - I just want to

        21       come to that now, it is a little out of order.  When you

        22       were told that in January of this year, were you told that

        23       that 10 per cent had been paid as part of the inland

        24       trucking cost?

        25       A.   Could you point me to which particular paragraph,

        26       please?

        27

        28       Q.   Yes.  I was hoping you wouldn't ask me that question.

        29       Paragraph 41?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   You say:

        33

        34            To the best of my recollection, the first

        35            occasion on which I was informed that the

        36            AWB had in fact paid after-sales-service

        37            fees (including commissions) which were on

        38            paid to the Iraqi government, was at an AWB

        39            Board meeting on 12 January 2006.

        40            Mr Lindberg informed me and the other

        41            directors of these matters at that Board

        42            meeting.

        43

        44       My question was were you ever told that the inland freight

        45       charges had included a component which was 10 per cent of

        46       the CIF value of the contract, and you said, "No, we were -

        47       I was not, and neither was the board, told that.  We were
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         1       told in January of this year".  Were you told in January of

         2       this year that the inland freight charges included a figure

         3       of 10 per cent which was added to the CIF value of the

         4       contract?

         5       A.   No, I was not.

         6

         7       Q.   So then may we take it that you have never been told

         8       that the inland freight charges included a 10 per cent

         9       figure, which was calculated by reference to the CIF value

        10       of the contract?

        11       A.   Not before 12 January of this year.

        12

        13       Q.   And on 12 January of this year you were told that AWB

        14       had paid an aftersales service fee.  Were you told that

        15       that was a 10 per cent aftersales service fee?

        16       A.   I don't believe so.  I believe the news itself was

        17       alarming enough without remembering that point.

        18

        19       Q.   Well, let's go to what you say in paragraph 41.  You

        20       say that was the first occasion on which you were told that

        21       AWB had in fact paid an aftersales service fee, including

        22       commissions, which were onpaid to the Iraqi Government.

        23       Were you told that as a matter of fact - that this had

        24       happened - or were you told that as a matter of allegation?

        25       A.   No, I and my colleagues at the board were informed by

        26       the then CEO, Mr Lindberg.

        27

        28       Q.   What did he say?  Did he say this had happened, or did

        29       he say that this was an allegation?

        30       A.   No, he said it had happened.

        31

        32       Q.   Did he tell you how it had been paid and how it had

        33       been onpaid to the Iraqi Government?

        34       A.   He didn't tell us of the mechanism of it.

        35

        36       Q.   But is it your specific recollection that he said that

        37       the aftersales service fees, including commissions, were

        38       onpaid to the Iraqi Government?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   He said that as a matter of fact - that it had in fact

        42       happened?

        43       A.   Yes, it was said in clear and concise words.

        44

        45       Q.   Not that it was a matter of allegation or that it was

        46       the matter that was the subject of an inquiry?

        47       A.   No.  This occurred just a few days before he was due
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         1       here as a witness, and he told us.

         2

         3       Q.   Yes.  That's why I am asking you about it:  did he

         4       tell you where he had got that information from?

         5       A.   It appeared to be firsthand knowledge.

         6

         7       Q.   Did anybody ask him, "How do you know that?", or "How

         8       is it that we're being told this a few days before this

         9       royal commission starts?  Why weren't we told it before?"

        10       A.   I think the news itself was so stunning that it was

        11       almost self-explanatory.

        12

        13       Q.   Well, in what way do you say it was almost

        14       self-explanatory?

        15       A.   Well, bearing in mind that we are now told something

        16       that has been a subject of denial at board for some years,

        17       for our managing director to tell us this required no

        18       questioning from myself or anyone else.  It was too late

        19       for us to do very much about it.

        20

        21       Q.   So you regarded this as a potent admission, did you?

        22       A.   Excuse me, did you say "potent"?

        23

        24       Q.   Yes.

        25       A.   "Explosive" would be a word I would have chosen.

        26

        27       Q.   Did anybody ask Mr Lindberg, "Why is it you are saying

        28       this now, given all the denials that have been made up

        29       until today?"

        30       A.   Well, it was a rather short meeting, it wasn't a

        31       scheduled meeting.  No.  Nobody asked.  I think they were

        32       all as thunderstruck as I was.

        33

        34       Q.   When you say it was unscheduled, what were you told

        35       was the purpose of that meeting?

        36       A.   Well, Mr Agius, you may or may not be aware we don't

        37       normally meet in January of any year.

        38

        39       Q.   Yes.

        40       A.   But, bearing in mind that Mr Cole's commission was

        41       about to commence its work, a meeting of the board was

        42       called for an update by counsel, Mr Judd, and I believe

        43       Mr Judd was there - please don't hold me to that - but it

        44       was called because these matters were of import to the

        45       company and that we should be briefed on our position to

        46       this Commission.

        47
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         1       Q.   Were all the directors present?

         2       A.   Yes, they were.

         3

         4       Q.   And were these the directors of both boards or only

         5       the AWB board?

         6       A.   The parent board - AWBL.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   We have been told by Mr Stewart

         9       that the board, on two occasions, unanimously decided to

        10       claim legal professional privilege with respect to certain

        11       matters.  Can you tell me the dates on which those board

        12       meetings took that decision?

        13       A.   Post January.

        14

        15       Q.   Post?

        16       A.   Post January.  We have had --

        17

        18       Q.   Do you mean after this inquiry had started?

        19       A.   I believe so, but I stand corrected if someone can

        20       refresh my memory.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At this board meeting, did Mr Lindberg

        23       inform the board that that would be the evidence he would

        24       be giving before the inquiry?

        25       A.   You must forgive me, the humming of this fan

        26       interrupts my hearing.  Could you repeat that question for

        27       me, please?

        28

        29       Q.   Yes.  Did Mr Lindberg inform the board at this meeting

        30       in January that that is what he would be telling the

        31       inquiry - that AWB had in fact paid aftersales service

        32       fees, including commissions, which were onpaid to the Iraqi

        33       Government?

        34       A.   The way in which the subject was briefed to us gave me

        35       every impression that he would be telling this Commission.

        36

        37       Q.   Do you know whether, up until the time of his

        38       resignation from the board, Mr Lindberg was ever asked to

        39       explain how it could be that he was in possession of that

        40       knowledge on 12 January 2006?

        41       A.   Well, bearing in mind the only meetings that

        42       Mr Lindberg has attended in person, I don't believe he has

        43       attended any meetings in person since that time; most

        44       meetings of the board have been held by telephone.

        45       Mr Lindberg's standing down from duties occurred in

        46       early February - and please correct me if you know a

        47       specific date.  That's the best answer I can give you,
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         1       Mr Agius.

         2

         3       Q.   So may we take it that, to the best of your knowledge,

         4       you can't say what Mr Lindberg's source of information was

         5       for that statement - that AWB had in fact paid the

         6       aftersales service fees and commissions which were onpaid

         7       to the Iraqi Government?

         8       A.   His source of information would be paperwork and

         9       contracts that he is privy to within the records of AWB,

        10       and personal experience, perhaps.

        11

        12       Q.   That's your inference?

        13       A.   That's my understanding.

        14

        15       Q.   Were you given any other information by Mr Lindberg in

        16       this board meeting - I don't want you to tell us anything

        17       that Mr Judd said, because I am assuming that that would be

        18       the subject of a claim for legal professional privilege.

        19       A.   He told the board that this Commission --

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Not Mr Judd - you are speaking of

        22       Mr Lindberg, are you?

        23       A.   Yes, I am sorry, something caught my attention.  I am

        24       not talking to Mr Judd.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I don't want you to tell us anything that

        27       Mr Judd said.  I am only asking you about anything extra

        28       that Mr Lindberg said.  Do you follow that?

        29       A.   Yes, I do understand that.  There seems to be a cross

        30       conversation I'm not privy to.  What Mr Lindberg said to

        31       the board prior to the end of that board concerned, in

        32       part, this Commission, and Mr Lindberg said that there was

        33       nothing to worry about about this Commission, the worst we

        34       could come out of it was a slap on the wrists for not

        35       finding out exactly who Alia was.  He was very upbeat about

        36       the unlikely prospect of AWB being found in breach of the

        37       law.

        38

        39       Q.   In that connection, did he say anything about the

        40       likely consequences of it being discovered that AWB had in

        41       fact paid aftersales service fees which were onpaid to the

        42       Iraqi Government?

        43       A.   No.

        44

        45       Q.   Did he say any more, to the best of your recollection?

        46       A.   No, it wasn't particularly a long meeting, Mr Agius,

        47       and there was nothing of consequence, to my recollection,
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         1       other than what I have already told you.

         2

         3       Q.   I will just move on through your statement.  In

         4       paragraph 49 you say at the bottom of the page:

         5

         6            I am positive that no summary or overview

         7            of the Arthur Andersen report was presented

         8            by Mr Lindberg (or anyone else) at any AWB

         9            or AWBI Board meeting which I attended.

        10            The first occasion on which I saw the

        11            Arthur Andersen presentations and the

        12            report was in the course of preparing this

        13            statement for the Inquiry.

        14

        15       We do have some reference to Arthur Andersen in some of the

        16       board papers.  For example, I will bring up the board paper

        17       for AWB Limited - when I say "board paper", minutes of

        18       board meeting for AWB Limited on 31 August 2000 - at

        19       AWB.0156.0292.  That's the first page, just to confirm that

        20       these are minutes of the meeting held on 31 August 2000.

        21       If we go to page 0295, under "Chief Executive's Report",

        22       paragraph 6, the last dot point, just about the middle of

        23       the page, "Business Risk Review project undertaken by

        24       Arthur Andersen"?

        25       A.   Oh, yes, sorry, I see it, fine.

        26

        27       Q.   What were you told about the nature and scope of that

        28       project that was to be undertaken by Arthur Andersen?  Can

        29       you recall?

        30       A.   Yes, I can.  It is a - the way it was explained to the

        31       board, it was a management-authorised review that was going

        32       to - or it had, rather, asked Arthur Andersen to look at

        33       processes within management of the export of wheat, whether

        34       management processes particularly - well, obviously export

        35       of wheat are adequate, perhaps need tightening up, and

        36       whether the personnel in charge of those sections of our

        37       business were doing our job adequately.  That's the way it

        38       was explained to me.

        39

        40       Q.   Now, we note from the cover sheet, or the first

        41       page of these minutes, that Mr Stott was in attendance, as

        42       well as Mr Ingleby.  Were you told anything in the course

        43       of that briefing to suggest that there was any suspicion

        44       that any AWB employees had acted contrary to the interests

        45       of AWB?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   Or had engaged in practices suggestive of the payments

         2       or receipt of secret commissions?

         3       A.   No, if we had we would have asked questions about it.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender AWB.0156.0292, which

         6       is the first page of the minutes, which simply records

         7       those in attendance and the opening period, and that

         8       portion of AWB.0156.0295 which was the portion that I read.

         9       We will prepare an edited document to reflect that.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #520 FIRST PAGE OF MINUTES OF BOARD MEETING OF AWB

        12       LIMITED ON 31/8/2000, BARCODED AWB.0156.0292, AND PORTION

        13       FROM PAGE AWB.0156.0295 READ BY MR AGIUS

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Thereafter, we understand that what is

        16       described as a "final report" from Arthur Andersen relating

        17       to integrity risks touching upon international sales and

        18       marketing was prepared dated December 2000, and delivered

        19       under the cover of a letter in early 2001.  When you speak

        20       in this paragraph 49 of the Arthur Andersen report, that is

        21       the one to which you are referring, is it not?

        22       A.   Yes, it is.

        23

        24       Q.   We understand that there were other Arthur Andersen

        25       reports which related to, for example, the chartering

        26       business and the way in which it was conducted.  Did you

        27       ever receive a briefing in relation to an Arthur Andersen

        28       report on that subject matter?

        29       A.   Not to my recollection, because the chartering

        30       division was revamped and restructured, and may have been

        31       done so as part of that Andersen report.

        32

        33       Q.   I want to come now to December of 2004.  You deal with

        34       this from about paragraph 58 of your statement on page 18.

        35       You were not present - unable to be present because of

        36       injury - at the joint information session which was held on

        37       14 December 2004, but you say that you did attend the board

        38       meeting which occurred after that, on that same day.

        39       A.   That's correct.  I attended the corporate risk

        40       management meeting prior to the joint information session,

        41       and I attended the International board meeting after that

        42       session.

        43

        44       Q.   Now, we have Mr Fuller's notes from the International

        45       board meeting, and we also have the official board minutes.

        46       I should take you to the minutes first.  Could we go to the

        47       minutes of the AWBI meeting that was held on 14 December
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         1       2004, confidential exhibit 65C, at AWB.0194.0039, at 0041.

         2       These minutes record that, in relation to the Tigris

         3       matter, Mr Cooper was welcomed to the meeting and that the

         4       managing director briefed the board.  I will just leave you

         5       to read that minute for yourself.

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   If we can go to Mr Cooper's notes, which he says he

         9       took during the course of this meeting - they are

        10       exhibit 508, at WST.0016.0141 - you will see in the heading

        11       he has "AWB(I) 14 Dec 04", opening at 2.45 and he records

        12       you as being present as one of the directors.  Then if we

        13       go to the next page, 0142 --

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   I think these are Mr Fuller's notes, aren't

        16       they, not Mr Cooper's?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I am sorry, did I say "Cooper"?  My error.

        19       I meant to say Mr Fuller.  These are Mr Fuller's notes.

        20

        21       Q.   If we go to page 0142, you will see Mr Fuller's notes

        22       under "Tigris".  Mr Wayne Gibson is recorded as asking "How

        23       is this explained in terms of our accounts?", and Mr Ian

        24       Donges is recorded as asking, "How is it accounted for.

        25       WEA - should we tell them".  Can you recall any

        26       conversation or anything said by anybody on those topics?

        27       A.   Well, it would be convenient if we could have that

        28       previous thing and this present piece of information in

        29       front of us, but you will see from the report given to us

        30       in our minutes, it referred to receiving a commission from

        31       Tigris for carrying out some activity for them and

        32       recovering a debt.  Here it doesn't say anything about

        33       anything other than the commission, and I - which was half

        34       a million dollars - and my recollection is we never talked

        35       about anything less than half a million dollars or anything

        36       more than half a million dollars.  So I believe that

        37       Mr Gibson is asking where do we explain the inclusion of

        38       half a million dollars into the pool accounts which go,

        39       obviously, to wheat growers who have delivered to the

        40       pools, and Mr Donges' question is in a similar vein -

        41       should we tell WEA that we collected half a million dollars

        42       for the pool, that was money earned through the good

        43       offices of the parent board.

        44

        45       Q.   Mr Fuller has written "To do" alongside each of those

        46       inquiries.  Do you recall any conversation as to what the

        47       follow-up would be, those inquiries having been made?
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         1       A.   I don't believe there was any further inquiry about

         2       it.  We have assumed that Richard has in actual fact done

         3       these things, that the chief financial officer would

         4       account for it in the accounts of the pool and that it

         5       would either become an agenda item for our next joint

         6       consultative meeting with the Wheat Export Authority or it

         7       wouldn't.  So I have allowed that to fall within the

         8       province of the chairman of AWBI to make the decision as to

         9       whether it is raised with the Wheat Export Authority or

        10       not, and I have left it to the chief financial officer to

        11       include it in the accounts of the pool in the manner he

        12       feels fit to reveal the activities of the pool.

        13

        14       Q.   You have set out at the top of page 19 in your

        15       statement the typescript of what we could read in the board

        16       minutes?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And when we look at that typescript, we see that the

        20       debt owed to Tigris is not quantified.

        21       A.   No, it is not.

        22

        23       Q.   Can you recall being told, in the course of this board

        24       meeting, what the size of that debt was?

        25       A.   No - well, I can recall, and we were not told.

        26

        27       Q.   Were you told in the course of this board meeting the

        28       method by which the debt had been recovered?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   You see that the typescript of the minutes reads "In

        32       consideration for that assistance, AWB had assisted Tigris

        33       in recovering a debt owed to Tigris by the Grains Board of

        34       Iraq".  You were not told as to the manner of that

        35       assistance?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Were you told --

        39       A.   Well only in the - sorry to interrupt you, Mr Agius,

        40       but only in the context that we had a good working

        41       relationship with the Iraqi Grain Board, and our good

        42       offices were used to persuade IGB to repay to Tigris an

        43       amount of money.

        44

        45       Q.   Were you told anything at all on the topic of the debt

        46       having been recovered by way of the wheat prices in other

        47       contracts?
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         1       A.   Absolutely not.

         2

         3       Q.   So is it your evidence that you were told nothing at

         4       all about the manner - the actual physical, practical

         5       manner - of recouping the debt?

         6       A.   Told absolutely nothing.  My knowledge of that is

         7       gained through the hearings of this Commission.

         8

         9       Q.   Were you told that that money had already been paid to

        10       Tigris prior to this board meeting?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   What, then, did you understand to be the purpose of

        14       this report to the board?  I take it - and as we see from

        15       the minutes - there was no request for any authority from

        16       the board.  Why did you believe you were being told this?

        17       A.   Well, it was really an issue that should have gone to

        18       the International board, because it was - that's where the

        19       money ended up - the half million dollars.

        20

        21       Q.   Well, this is an International board meeting.

        22       A.   I thought it was a Limited.

        23

        24       Q.   Sorry, a Limited - no, no, it is an International

        25       board meeting at 2.45 on 14 December.

        26       A.   Well, it has been the activity of the Limited board

        27       that has resulted in the creation of this commission.  Why

        28       it has come to the International board is to merely report

        29       to the board that a commission of half a million dollars

        30       would appear in the revenue of the pool, and that we would

        31       be aware of it.

        32

        33       Q.   But ordinarily you wouldn't be told about matters

        34       going into the revenue of the pool, would you?

        35       A.   Yes, we are.

        36

        37       Q.   Of specific amounts, of half a million or a million

        38       dollars?

        39       A.   No, Mr Agius, because most amounts of money that are

        40       paid to the pool are in the millions or tens of millions of

        41       dollars from the sale of wheat.

        42

        43       Q.   So were you told anything about why it was that this

        44       report to the board was being made?

        45       A.   No.  It is just that historically this has been an

        46       activity that has been the business of AWBL, and I guess

        47       management have felt it correct and proper to report that
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         1       an amount of half a million dollars is going to come into

         2       the pool revenue, and this is the reason why it has come.

         3

         4       Q.   Could we go to Mr Fuller's notes of the AWB Limited

         5       board meeting, which was conducted on 15 December - that's

         6       the next day - and that's at WST.0016.0163.  These are

         7       already exhibited before the inquiry as exhibit 517.  You

         8       will see that's the first page of the notes "AWB Limited

         9       15/12/04" and you are recorded as being present as a

        10       director.

        11       A.   Correct.

        12

        13       Q.   And then if we go to page 0176, do you see in

        14       Mr Fuller's notes:

        15

        16            Recovered USD 8m.

        17            Pool US$1.3m.

        18

        19       Do you recall being told the amount of money that had been

        20       recovered during the course of this meeting?

        21       A.   Not in terms of $8m or $1.3m.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, what do you say - to the best of your

        24       recollection, were those figures mentioned in the course of

        25       this meeting?

        26       A.   To the best of my recollection, these amounts of money

        27       were not specifically mentioned.

        28

        29       Q.   During the course of this meeting, was the board of

        30       AWB Limited told how it was that that money, the debt, had

        31       been recovered?

        32       A.   No, we were not told at all.

        33

        34       Q.   In relation to the comments that we see attributed to

        35       the board members, Mr Simpson and Mr Thame, two-thirds of

        36       the way down the page --

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   -- Mr Simpson, "How appear in accounts", and next to

        40       Mr Thame there is just the recording of the word "Smell".

        41       Do you recall anything of the conversation in the board

        42       meeting on either or both of those two topics?

        43       A.   I believe my memory is that John Simpson has asked a

        44       similar question that was asked at International, "Where

        45       does this appear in the accounts of the company".  John

        46       Thame's comment - and I am trying not to reconstruct

        47       anything here, Mr Agius - is that to receive a commission
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         1       for something is - may have a smell about it.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  We will adjourn until 2 o'clock.

         6

         7       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

         8
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, there is one matter that my

         4       learned friend Mr Barker raised with me and it flows from

         5       the rulings that you have made concerning portions of the

         6       statement which are excluded from the tender.  Consistent

         7       with those rulings, we should perhaps remove the last

         8       sentence in paragraph 5 on WST.0020.0003.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will reject the last sentence

        11       in paragraph 5.

        12

        13       MR BARKER:   Thank you.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0200.0094.

        16       These are the minutes of the board meeting of AWB Limited

        17       of 27 July 2005.  If we go to 0098, paragraph 5, we see an

        18       entry "Managing Director's Reports", and (i):

        19

        20            The Board discussed the Managing Director's

        21            Report for the period 1-30 June 2005.

        22

        23       I will tender the first page of those minutes, to the

        24       extent that they disclose those in attendance and the date

        25       and time, together with that entry at paragraph 5 of the

        26       minutes, on pages AWB.0200.0094 and AWB.0200.0098.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #521 FIRST PAGE OF MINUTES OF 27/7/2005,

        29       TO THE EXTENT THAT IT DISCLOSES THOSE IN ATTENDANCE AND

        30       THE DATE AND TIME, BARCODED AWB.0200.0094, TOGETHER

        31       WITH THE ENTRY AT PARAGRAPH 5 OF THE MINUTES ON

        32       PAGE BARCODED AWB.0200.0098.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We then come to the managing director's

        35       report.  Could we bring up AWB.0290.0275.  If we go to

        36       0279, can you recall, Mr Moffet, whether there was any

        37       discussion of any of the matters that we see set out under

        38       the heading "Project Rose" on this page of the managing

        39       director's report?

        40       A.   Yes, I can remember some of it, Mr Agius.

        41

        42       Q.   What can you recollect?

        43       A.   There was discussion about several items.  Dot

        44       point 3, there was some discussion about that, because that

        45       gentleman, I believe, was a former defence secretary or

        46       some senior cabinet member of the Clinton administration

        47       and is now a corporate lobbyist within the US political
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         1       system.  Dot point 1, Mr Agius, was merely - or more in

         2       line, rather, with informing the board that the contact had

         3       been made with the new ambassador.  There was no real

         4       import to it, other than that.  The meeting with Mr Vaile

         5       scheduled for July is more of an information as an ongoing

         6       process of keeping good communication avenues available

         7       with the federal government.

         8

         9            Dot point number 5, information forwarded to the

        10       independent commission, which is commonly known as Volcker,

        11       is reporting to the board that we responded to a request

        12       for information for - information that the Volcker

        13       commission thought we should have for them.

        14

        15            Dot point six, "No follow up from IIC on earlier

        16       request for further interviews", I believe that they allude

        17       to interviews that the company had requested from

        18       Mr Volcker's officers to clarify issues that Mr Volcker's

        19       team had been investigating.

        20

        21       Q.   Can you recall whether or not the board was informed

        22       of the fact of meetings in Canberra on 1 June 2005 with

        23       Minister Downer, Minister Truss and other members of the

        24       administration?

        25       A.   No, not specifically a meeting with any of those

        26       gentlemen.

        27

        28       Q.   Can you recall whether or not the board was informed

        29       that the purpose of the meetings with members of the

        30       federal government that had taken place was to, in effect,

        31       bring them up to date with what AWB expected might be the

        32       findings from the IIC inquiry?

        33       A.   No.  My understanding is that the visitations to

        34       Canberra were to liaise with government and to keep the

        35       government ministers, or the relative ministers, informed

        36       of the progress of AWB in assisting the Volcker commission.

        37

        38       Q.   Were you informed as at the end of June 2005 - or, let

        39       us say, as at the date of this meeting, which was July

        40       2005 - that there was a possibility of adverse findings

        41       against AWB?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender the cover sheet

        45       of the managing director's report, which records a

        46       reporting period from 1 to 30 June 2005, AWB.0290.0275, and

        47       so much of page 0279, which is page 5 of the report, as
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         1       includes the headings down to and inclusive of the dot

         2       points under the words "Project Rose".

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   It will be exhibit 522.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #522 COVER SHEET OF MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

         7       RECORDING A REPORTING PERIOD FROM 1/6/2005-30/6/2005,

         8       BARCODED AWB.0290.0275, AND PAGE AWB.0290.0279 INCLUDING

         9       THE HEADINGS DOWN TO AND INCLUSIVE OF THE DOT POINTS UNDER

        10       THE WORDS "PROJECT ROSE"

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Finally, in paragraph 78 of your

        13       statement --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   -- you say you were certainly not involved nor at that

        17       time did you have any knowledge of the decision to engage

        18       Mr Flugge as a consultant.  I want to ask you about what

        19       you've said in paragraph 78 against what we see in some

        20       board minutes that were tendered yesterday afternoon,

        21       commencing with an extract of the minutes of 24 April 2002,

        22       these being the minutes of the AWB Limited.  Could we bring

        23       up, please, BJS.0001.0057.  Paragraph 8, "Arrangements for

        24       Former Chairman":

        25

        26            The Board discussed this matter and noted

        27            that a transitional period would apply for

        28            the former Chairman Mr Flugge and that the

        29            Chief Executive would consider utilising

        30            Mr Flugge's skills and experience on a

        31            consulting basis as appropriate.

        32

        33       A.   Yes, I see that.

        34

        35       Q.   Then we were taken to the board minutes for 22 May

        36       2002 at BJS.0001.0071.  I just draw your attention - I

        37       won't read it, because it is too long - to what's set out

        38       at the top of that page, under the heading "The Chairman

        39       and Chief Executive addressed the Board on this matter" - I

        40       apologise, we need to go back to the previous page, 0070,

        41       the bottom of that page.  You're recorded as having stated

        42       your objection to the arrangements which I've referred to

        43       set out in the minutes of 24 April 2002.

        44       A.   That's correct, yes.

        45

        46       Q.   And over the page, 0071, there's a reference to

        47       addresses by the chairman and chief executive.



            .8/3/06 (42)               4200     C D MOFFET (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   Yes, I've read them.

         2

         3       Q.   Then can we go to the minutes for 20 November 2002,

         4       BJS.0001.0087, at 0088.  At the bottom of that page there

         5       are minutes that refer to the contract with the former

         6       chairman.

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   In your statement you say:

        10

        11            In the months leading up to November 2002,

        12            I had raised queries at Board meetings as

        13            to whether any arrangements had been

        14            entered into with Mr Flugge, but had

        15            received no answer.

        16

        17       Do you stand by that?

        18       A.   Yes, I do.

        19

        20       Q.   You go on to say:

        21

        22            I was certainly not involved, nor at the

        23            time did I have any knowledge of, the

        24            decision to engage Mr Flugge as a

        25            consultant.

        26

        27       It would seem plain that in April and May there had been

        28       raised at board level the question of what Mr Flugge should

        29       do after his period as chairman expired and there was talk

        30       that he would stay on and, indeed, an agreement that he

        31       would stay on for three months, and in the May minutes

        32       there's a reference to it being the chief executive's

        33       prerogative as to whether to continue to engage Mr Flugge

        34       following the three-month transitional period as a

        35       consultant.  Now, how does that stand with your statement

        36       that you were not involved, nor at the time did you have

        37       knowledge of the decision to engage Mr Flugge as a

        38       consultant?

        39       A.   Quite easily, Mr Agius.  The board was informed that

        40       there may be a period for Mr Flugge - a period post his

        41       defeat at the elections.  I recorded my objection to that,

        42       because the constitution of the company does not allow for

        43       a retirement benefit of any director.  But I do believe,

        44       Mr Agius, that the same minutes make it clear that

        45       Mr Lindberg could employ Mr Flugge as a consultant, not

        46       that he would.  I would have thought it was a matter of

        47       common manners at the very bare minimum for the chairman
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         1       and/or the CEO --

         2

         3       MR BARKER:   I object to this, Commissioner.  This is mere

         4       comment.  It is unhelpful to you.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll reject that passage, relating

         7       to "manners".

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Are you saying this, Mr Moffet, that you

        10       didn't have any knowledge of the actual decision to engage

        11       Mr Flugge as a consultant, although you knew that that

        12       matter had been raised as a prospect from discussions that

        13       had taken place at earlier board meetings?

        14       A.   I knew that it was a possibility.

        15

        16       Q.   But you didn't know until after the decision had been

        17       made that that decision had been made?

        18       A.   I don't believe any of my fellow colleagues did

        19       either.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  That completes my examination of

        22       Mr Moffet, Mr Commissioner.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lundberg, do you have any questions?

        25

        26       MR LUNDBERG:   No, may it please you, commissioner.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, Mr Barker?  Does anybody else

        29       have any discussions -- questions.

        30

        31       MR ALLEN:   I would have some questions to ask, but I'm not

        32       in a position to ask them this afternoon.  Amongst other

        33       things, I'm having searches made for minutes of a

        34       particular meeting that's been referred to.  I need to get

        35       instructions from my client.  I've tried to ring him over

        36       lunch, without success.  He's in Melbourne.  When the

        37       minutes are found, they will have to be faxed up to me at

        38       my hotel.  I understand that the witness is from Western

        39       Australia and the difficulties that presents.

        40

        41       THE WITNESS:   I'm having trouble hearing the gentleman.

        42

        43       MR ALLEN:  If he expected to be here for more than a day, I

        44       would be grateful if he could be stood over.  If that

        45       presents difficulties, well, there's nothing more I can

        46       say, other than that, were I allowed an opportunity, I

        47       would ask him some questions.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  All right.

         3

         4       MR LUNDBERG:   Might I be heard on that issue,

         5       Mr Commissioner.  As a result of the debate we had with

         6       Mr Judd this morning, I'm not sure whether it's proposed

         7       generally to have directors held over to give evidence in

         8       due course.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it's not.

        11

        12       MR LUNDBERG:   If that be the position, given the practical

        13       issues of travelling from Western Australia, Mr Moffet is,

        14       of course, more than happy to come back, but it is sort of

        15       an imposition --

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think I'll stand him over until

        18       tomorrow morning.

        19

        20       MR LUNDBERG:   May it please the Commission.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Moffet, I'll have to ask you to

        23       return at 10am tomorrow morning, if you don't mind.

        24

        25       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        26

        27       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Mr Condon will take the next witness,

        30       Mr Commissioner.

        31

        32       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, the next witness is Mr Simpson.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   While Mr Simpson comes to the witness box, sir,

        35       may I seek authorisation, with my learned friend

        36       Mr Corbett, to appear on this witness's behalf.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Judd.  That's granted on the

        39       usual terms.

        40

        41       <JOHN EDGAR FERGUSON SIMPSON, sworn:         [2.30pm]

        42

        43       <EXAMINATION BY MR CONDON:

        44

        45       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Simpson, what is your full name?

        46       A.   John Edgar Ferguson Simpson.

        47
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         1       Q.   And you've been a director of AWBI from November 1998

         2       to March 2000; is that correct?

         3       A.   I believe that's correct, yes.

         4

         5       Q.   And a director of AWBL from November 1998 to date; is

         6       that correct?

         7       A.   That's correct.

         8

         9       Q.   Mr Simpson, I want to take you back to 1999 and to a

        10       chief financial officer's report.  Could I have

        11       AWB.0156.0098.  It is part of confidential exhibit 52.  You

        12       will see, Mr Simpson, it's a chief financial officer's

        13       report for the period ending 31 July 1999.  Then could I

        14       ask the monitor to go through to page 0100.  Can I ask you

        15       to look at the third dot point under the heading "Middle

        16       East".

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Mr Simpson, the minutes of the meeting of AWB Limited

        20       for 26 August 1999 disclose that you were present on that

        21       particular occasion - that is, the meeting held on that

        22       date.  Do you recall if there was any discussion about the

        23       passage I have shown you?

        24       A.   I have no recollection of the meeting, or no memory of

        25       the meeting.  I'm not denying I was there.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you recall how and in what circumstances the change

        28       in terms and conditions there referred to came to be

        29       discussed?

        30       A.   No, I do not.

        31

        32       Q.   Would I be right in thinking that such operational

        33       matters would ordinarily not come to the attention of the

        34       board, unless it was of some significance.

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   And it was unusual for information of this kind - that

        38       is, the change in terms and conditions - to be reported to

        39       the board; is that correct?

        40       A.   Can you just ask that again, please?

        41

        42       Q.   It would be unusual for the board to be notified of

        43       changes to terms and conditions; is that correct?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Having put those propositions to you, does that

        47       refresh your recollection as to what was discussed in about
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         1       August of 1999?

         2       A.   I just don't have any - I'm not saying it didn't

         3       happen; I just don't have any memory of the events.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you have any recollection at all, in the second

         6       half of 1999, of being informed of changes to the terms and

         7       conditions governing AWB's contracts with the IGB?

         8       A.   Can you just move the slide up?  Is this part of the

         9       minutes?  Is this a report to --

        10

        11       Q.   No, this is the chief financial officer's report to

        12       the board.

        13       A.   To International, is it?

        14

        15       Q.   No, to Limited, I think it was.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   It says "International" at the top.

        18

        19       THE WITNESS:   It says "International" at the top.  I was

        20       on the board of International.  Yes, I just have no

        21       recollection.

        22

        23       MR CONDON:   Q.   I want to take you, then, to the year

        24       2000.  Do you recall there being discussions at board level

        25       about work Arthur Andersen was performing?

        26       A.   Are you bringing something up, or are you just asking

        27       me that question?

        28

        29       Q.   I'm asking you that question.

        30       A.   I'm aware of what you're - the report you're asking me

        31       about.  I don't have any recollection of it being

        32       discussed.

        33

        34       Q.   Can I take you, please, to the minutes of the meeting

        35       of AWB Limited of 31 August 2000, AWB.0156.0292.

        36       Mr Simpson, you'll see that you are said to be present --

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   -- and in attendance are a number of people, including

        40       Mr Stott; do you see that?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   If I take you to the fourth page of the board meeting

        44       minutes, 0295, and under the heading "Information Session",

        45       we see recorded:

        46

        47            The Board noted that an information
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         1            session - attended by AWB Limited and AWB

         2            International Limited Board members - had

         3            been held the previous day and that the

         4            following issues had been addressed...

         5

         6       The last of those issues is "Business Risk Review project

         7       undertaken by Arthur Andersen"?

         8       A.   Yes, I see that.

         9

        10       Q.   Now, do you recall any discussions on this occasion

        11       about the retainer of Arthur Andersen, or the tasks that

        12       that company, or that firm, had to perform?

        13       A.   I'm certain the meeting took place.  I just don't have

        14       a recollection, no.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you have any recollection of what the explanation

        17       was about what Arthur Andersen was doing?

        18       A.   Well, they were reviewing - other than what the title

        19       suggests, no.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you recall - I'm not suggesting it was stated, but

        22       did Mr Stott or any other executives there mention they had

        23       concerns about the conduct of any of the employees of AWB?

        24       A.   Look, not that I recall.

        25

        26       Q.   And did Mr Stott or any of the other employees make

        27       any suggestion one way or the other about the conduct of

        28       those persons in relation to a company called Ronly?

        29       A.   Not that I recall.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you have any explanation as to why Arthur Andersen

        32       was retained, according to what you were told?

        33       A.   I have no - my memory doesn't serve me well in terms

        34       of that period of time, so, no, I can't help you, I'm

        35       sorry.

        36

        37       Q.   We see in later reports of the board - I can take you

        38       to them if you want me to - that there is reference from

        39       time to time to work being performed by Arthur Andersen.

        40       Do you recall now any explanation being given in the second

        41       half of 2000 or into 2001 about the work that that company

        42       performed?

        43       A.   I do recall at some stage - I'm not certain it was

        44       Arthur Andersen - we had a report on how the chartering

        45       operations interact between the pool and International.

        46       Now, whether that was - it may have been done by Arthur

        47       Andersen.  I don't - I can't be certain about that either,
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         1       but I do - and I can't tell you when, but I do remember a

         2       report being done into the interaction between those - the

         3       subsidiary and the main company in chartering.

         4

         5       Q.   Since the beginning of this year have you become aware

         6       of the contents of the Arthur Andersen report of December

         7       2000?

         8       A.   I haven't sighted them.  I've heard - I realise there

         9       is such a document, but I haven't gone through it, if

        10       that's what you're asking me, no.

        11

        12       Q.   Have you been informed of the contents of that

        13       document?

        14       A.   I've got a fair idea what's in there, yes.

        15

        16       Q.   In what circumstances were you informed about the

        17       contents of that document?

        18       A.   Well, my understanding is that it looks into the

        19       activities of AWB and areas to do with trucking, inland

        20       trucking, cartage of grain in Iraq.

        21

        22       Q.   And it raises concern about the conduct of a number of

        23       employees, does it not?

        24       A.   That's about what I've heard.  I mean, I haven't --

        25

        26       Q.   And it raises red flags about the price that was being

        27       charged by the IGB, does it not?

        28       A.   I didn't - my understanding of it doesn't go that far.

        29

        30       Q.   When were the contents of that document communicated

        31       to you?

        32       A.   I think I heard about it through the hearings of this

        33       inquiry.

        34

        35       Q.   Can I take you to August 2002, and can we have

        36       exhibit 336, AWB.0157.0096.  You'll see again that you are

        37       present?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Can I take you, please, to 0101, being page 6 of the

        41       board minutes.  If we scroll down the page, please, to

        42       section (v), "Iraq Update and Plan", you'll see there's a

        43       discussion of the verbal report by Mr Lindberg on the visit

        44       to Iraq and a notation of the following issue:

        45

        46            .  agreement on reduction of $6 per tonne

        47
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         1       A.   Yes, I see that, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   I want to ask you if you have any recollection of what

         4       Mr Lindberg said about what had happened in Iraq prior to

         5       this board meeting.  It appears he had been to Iraq in

         6       early August, at least before 27 August, which is the date

         7       of this board meeting.  What did he say to the board upon

         8       his return?

         9       A.   Sorry, what's the date of these minutes?

        10

        11       Q.   27 August 2002.

        12       A.   I'm trying to put two and two together, but in terms

        13       of recollection of that meeting, I don't have any.

        14

        15       Q.   I'm unable to find in the board minutes of this time

        16       any other reference to what the agreement was.  We have

        17       exhibit 28, AWB.0129.0199.  Can I just show you that

        18       document, please.  I'm conscious, Mr Simpson, that you

        19       weren't a recipient of this memorandum, but you'll see

        20       about halfway down the page there are three possible

        21       courses of action being discussed about the relationship

        22       between the rebate claim and the Tigris claim.

        23       A.   Sorry, I thought the top of this was iron filings.

        24

        25       Q.   Yes, "Iron filing rebate payment and Tigris

        26       Petroleum"?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   You'll see the reduction of any new contract price by

        30       the amount on the PMT basis is one option identified.

        31       Other options are also identified.

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   You'll see the words, "However, unfortunately in

        35       discussion with the Minister of Trade he has continually

        36       insisted on repayment directly as an addition to the inland

        37       transport" - this is of the Tigris matter.  Is it your

        38       recollection that any of these options, apart from the

        39       reduction of the contract price, were discussed at the

        40       board level in late 2002?

        41       A.   As I said, I have no recollection of that meeting, so,

        42       no, I have no recollection.

        43

        44       Q.   Is it your position that you simply have no

        45       recollection one way or the other?

        46       A.   Yes, I don't remember that meeting.  I haven't

        47       refreshed my memory by sighting minutes.
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         1

         2       Q.   I want to ask the question of your understanding of

         3       the relationship between the board and executives.  If the

         4       board had been told of a particular matter - that is, for

         5       example, an agreement on a reduction of $6 per tonne - and

         6       subsequently there had been a change proposed by management

         7       to that mechanism, would you have expected, as a board

         8       member, to have been told about that?

         9       A.   If we're talking about - and I'm not certain what we

        10       are - if we're talking about the new contract being written

        11       with the $6 a tonne reduction compared to the previous one,

        12       that's just the normal commercial business of writing

        13       contracts.  I mean, the price of wheat varies, the oil

        14       price varies, and contracts rise up and down, in terms of

        15       writing new contracts.

        16

        17       Q.   Sorry, my point is a little different.  If the board

        18       had been told of a proposal to reduce the price by, say,

        19       $6, and later management decide on another course of action

        20       to deal with that particular debt - for example, offsetting

        21       one against the other - would you have expected to have

        22       been told that?

        23       A.   You mentioned the word "debt".  I'm responding in the

        24       form of if a - when a new contract is generated or entered

        25       into, it's not necessarily a debt.  You're writing a

        26       contract of sale on Australian grain, and it varies from -

        27       every time you write it.  I mean, the world price of wheat

        28       fluctuates, as you well understand.  I guess I'm not

        29       understanding your question.

        30

        31       Q.   No, that's fair enough.  It's apparent from this

        32       memorandum that come December 2002 a number of options were

        33       being canvassed about the iron filing rebate payment,

        34       amongst other things.  The board having been told in August

        35       of that year that there was an agreement of a reduction of

        36       $6 per tonne, would you have expected, as a board member,

        37       to have been told how that was to be processed?

        38       A.   Well, my understanding was that it was going to be

        39       processed by a reduction in a future wheat contract.

        40

        41       Q.   What was the basis of that particular understanding?

        42       A.   I suppose a verbal update.

        43

        44       Q.   By whom?

        45       A.   Well, I'm surmising it was Andrew Lindberg.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, I don't want you to surmise.
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         1       A.   Right, I don't remember.

         2

         3       Q.   I would prefer that you --

         4       A.   Sorry, I don't remember the instance of it happening.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you recall when it occurred?

         7       A.   I have to confess my greatest problem with my memory

         8       is time lines, when they occurred, so, no, in terms

         9       of - sometimes I remember instances, but I can't attach a

        10       date to them.

        11

        12       Q.   I don't want to attach you to a particular day or even

        13       a particular month, but can you assist in informing us by

        14       reference to a year or a part of a year when this occurred?

        15       A.   In terms of, if you like, the iron filings trip, my

        16       recollection was, upon the return of the delegation that

        17       went, we were informed that the situation had been

        18       resolved, and my recollection was that it would result in a

        19       reduction in the future wheat contract.

        20

        21       Q.   Was that the extent of what you were told about the

        22       iron filing rebate claim?

        23       A.   Look, it might have had a dollar figure attached to

        24       it.  I don't recall whether it was $5, $2, or whatever - I

        25       don't recall the figure.  That's my vague recollection,

        26       sir.

        27

        28       Q.   At that time were you told anything - when I say "at

        29       that time", in 2002 - about the Tigris transaction?

        30       A.   Tigris was later.

        31

        32       Q.   When were you first informed about Tigris?

        33       A.   In December 2004, I believe.

        34

        35       Q.   Was that in the course of the meeting of the two

        36       boards in a joint information session?

        37       A.   That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   We have Mr Fuller's notes of that.  Can we have

        40       WST.0016.0130, exhibit 516.  If we scroll down the page, we

        41       see item 4, "Project Rose/Project Tigris".  Is it your

        42       evidence, Mr Simpson, that you were present on the occasion

        43       of the joint information session?

        44       A.   Yes.  This is Mr Fuller's notes from 14 December?

        45

        46       Q.   Yes.

        47       A.   Yes, I was present.
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         1

         2       Q.   And can you recall what he said in the context of the

         3       Tigris transaction?

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Mr Fuller?

         6

         7       MR CONDON:   I withdraw that, thank you.

         8

         9       Q.   Can you recall what was said on that occasion about

        10       the Tigris transaction?

        11       A.   My understanding of the happenings that day in regard

        12       to Tigris was we received a brief outline of the

        13       transaction --

        14

        15       Q.   By whom?

        16       A.   I believe it was mostly by Andrew Lindberg, but maybe

        17       Jim might have helped out.  I can't be - I'm not certain.

        18

        19       Q.   Yes.  You said you received a brief outline of the

        20       transaction.  What was the outline you received?

        21       A.   Well, my understanding, or my recollection, of that

        22       day was we were told that there was a company called Tigris

        23       that was owed a debt by the Iraqis, going back some years;

        24       that they had helped us regain market share, or helped us

        25       market wheat into Iraq; for that help, we had helped them

        26       repay a debt from the Iraqis; and that AWBI, or the

        27       growers, were, for going to that trouble, the growers were

        28       going to receive about half a million dollars US.

        29

        30       Q.   What explanation was given, or what was the basis so

        31       described, as to why there was going to be a payment of

        32       half a million dollars - what was the payment for?

        33       A.   For helping the Tigris company recoup their debt.

        34

        35       Q.   So, in other words, if anything, it was a receipt for

        36       payment for services provided by AWB to assist Tigris; is

        37       that correct?

        38       A.   Yes, that was my understanding.

        39

        40       Q.   Was it suggested otherwise that Tigris had performed

        41       services to the benefit of AWB as a result of which AWB was

        42       paying Tigris a figure over $7m - was that ever suggested?

        43       A.   That's not my understanding of what I was told, no.

        44

        45       Q.   What else was said on this particular occasion?

        46       A.   By the board members?

        47
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         1       Q.   Or by anyone present at the joint information session?

         2       A.   Well, I note that I raised the issue that I thought it

         3       was extraordinary and wanted some more information.  I

         4       think it could be summarised that it was a fairly robust

         5       discussion.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Tell me a little more about it.

         8       A.   Well, on first blush, I think the board was quite

         9       uncomfortable with it.  I guess my concerns, sir, were

        10       that, in regard to international sales and marketing, we're

        11       about marketing Australian grain, and here we are - here it

        12       appears we're out there collecting debts for a third party

        13       that didn't mean anything to me.  So early on I certainly

        14       expressed my concerns and requested further information.

        15

        16       Q.   What was said in response to your raising those

        17       concerns?

        18       A.   Well, in terms of me getting comfort, if you like, the

        19       first point that - this may not be the order they came out,

        20       but one of the points was it was, if you like, almost a

        21       done deal.  In fact, in hindsight, I think the whole deal

        22       had been done, but at the time we were told that the debt

        23       had been collected and that AWB was about to pay it to

        24       Tigris.

        25

        26       Q.   Was there any discussion about how the debt had been

        27       collected?

        28       A.   I've already said my recollection is not good.  No,

        29       look, I don't - it was collected from the IGB and - no, not

        30       how it was collected.

        31

        32       MR CONDON:   Q.   We have notes, and no doubt you've seen

        33       them, Mr Simpson, where you are reported or recorded as

        34       saying that this transaction was extraordinary, or words to

        35       that effect, and I note from the document on the screen

        36       that Project Tigris is recorded in the same breath, so to

        37       speak, as Project Rose.  We know Project Rose had its

        38       origin in the complaint in about June 2003 of the

        39       Australian wheat industry, or Associates.

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   What did you find extraordinary about what you were

        43       being told?

        44       A.   I guess I've already outlined it, the fact that we

        45       appeared to suddenly be in the business of collecting

        46       debts - a debt, sorry - a debt.  Sorry.

        47
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         1       Q.   Sorry, I cut you off.  Have you finished?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you have a concern in the context of what was

         5       being discussed about Project Rose when you were told this?

         6       The point of my question was, if you look at the notes, the

         7       two issues seem to be conflated, or at least discussed

         8       simultaneously.

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you have any concern in the context of sanctions

        12       or the US Senate inquiry, as we see there recorded, about

        13       what you were being told about Tigris?

        14       A.   No, at that time it was - appeared to be a total -

        15       obviously with hindsight it wasn't, but at that time it

        16       appeared to be a totally different issue and, as I said,

        17       there was a very robust discussion and it was all about,

        18       you know, why - the obvious link is they're both about

        19       Iraq, but, look, I can't explain why they're both listed

        20       together, but certainly myself, I didn't put any link

        21       together at that stage.

        22

        23       Q.   I think it's fair to say you expressed your doubts

        24       about the matter and you wanted some more information.  Who

        25       defended it, if anyone, in light of your comments?

        26       A.   My recollection is that it was Andrew,

        27       Andrew Lindberg, and in terms of me gaining some comfort,

        28       if you like, it was outlined to us that we'd had legal

        29       advice --

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   If I can just remind counsel and the witness

        32       that he can say that, but he can't disclose the effect of

        33       the advice.

        34

        35       MR CONDON:   Q.   I don't need reminding.  Nonetheless,

        36       Mr Simpson, you've heard what Mr Judd has to say.  Can you

        37       keep going without reference to what you were told about

        38       the legal advice?

        39       A.   Yes, we had received legal advice on the matter.

        40

        41       Q.   Were you told anything else about that matter, or

        42       not - leaving aside the legal advice?  Was that the end of

        43       it?

        44       A.   Yes, I think that covers it.  Sorry, the only other

        45       point is it wasn't a decision item for the board, it was an

        46       information item, and we weren't asked to vote on it.

        47
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         1       Q.   I just want to pursue that matter with you.  Had you

         2       been told one way or the other if the money had been paid

         3       to Tigris by this date, 14 December?

         4       A.   My recollection was that everything had happened

         5       except the money being paid to Tigris, but I think

         6       subsequent to that, quite some time later, we learnt it had

         7       actually already - I think it had already occurred.  But

         8       that's just a recollection too.

         9

        10       Q.   That's all I want to work on, your recollection.

        11       Let's break that up into two stages.  Who said anything to

        12       suggest that, as at 14 December, the money had not yet been

        13       paid to Tigris?

        14       A.   It would have been Andrew.  I'm presuming he just

        15       inferred it hadn't.  He may not have - I don't think we

        16       discussed whether it had or hadn't, we just presumed it

        17       hadn't.

        18

        19       Q.   You said later you found out that the money had in

        20       fact been paid as at 14 December?

        21       A.   I just have that recollection, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   I want to ask you - in what circumstances did you

        24       become aware that the money had in fact been paid prior to

        25       14 December?  Who told you that?

        26       A.   No, look, I couldn't tell you.  I just can't remember,

        27       nor the time span after that meeting.

        28

        29       Q.   Well, was it in the last few months, or was it a year

        30       ago, or what?

        31       A.   I should think sometime - maybe since last October.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you recall who told you?

        34       A.   No, no.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you recall being surprised by being informed about

        37       that matter?

        38       A.   Well, it seemed just a bit odd that we were led to

        39       believe it hadn't been done at the time, and then to be

        40       told that it had, bearing in mind it wasn't - it wasn't a

        41       board decision, it was an information paper, and if I can

        42       go in to bat for management, obviously papers are prepared

        43       before the day of the meeting, so --

        44

        45       Q.   Mr Simpson, I'm not being critical of you about this,

        46       but I just want to know this:  it was your recollection

        47       that you had been told as at 14 December, or understood as
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         1       at 14 December, that money had not been paid out.  You

         2       learned later that it had been paid out.  Weren't you

         3       concerned that you had been told two different things?

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Well, I don't think that's quite correct.  I

         6       think the evidence of the witness was ultimately he made an

         7       assumption about it.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it was.

        10

        11       MR CONDON:   Q.   Well, I withdraw the question.  Did you

        12       take any steps to inquire, after you had been told, later,

        13       that it had been paid out before 14 December, what had

        14       occurred?

        15       A.   No, I didn't.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you speak to Mr Lindberg about it?

        18       A.   Look, I don't recall, but, as I said, it was an

        19       information paper and it wasn't as if we were asked to

        20       decide and it was done before we made a decision, it was

        21       merely an information paper.  I didn't think it was such a

        22       big deal.

        23

        24       Q.   I'm conscious, Mr Simpson, that there were three

        25       meetings over the course of 14 December and 15 December.

        26       We have the information session and then the two board

        27       meetings.

        28       A.   That's correct.

        29

        30       Q.   But Mr Cooper's file note - no doubt you've seen it,

        31       but I can bring it up if you want me to - attributes this

        32       to you:

        33

        34            John Simpson - wants paper on Tigris at

        35            next board meeting.  It seems

        36            extraordinary.

        37

        38       Now, you said earlier that you had received a report from

        39       Mr Lindberg about some legal advice.  Did that occur in the

        40       course of a joint information session, or was that

        41       statement by Mr Lindberg made later?

        42       A.   I don't recall whether it was at the information

        43       session the previous day, on the 14th, or the board meeting

        44       the next day.

        45

        46       Q.   The reason I ask is if it was said on 14 December it

        47       seems, nonetheless, not to have calmed your concerns
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         1       because you still wanted a paper in the next board meeting.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Is it your recollection that, notwithstanding the fact

         5       that you were told something by Mr Lindberg about legal

         6       advice, it was still your intention to obtain a paper at

         7       the next board meeting?

         8       [STRIKE-OUT BEGINS] A.   My understanding is that the

         9       information regarding the legal advice was what alleviated,

        10       or helped alleviate, my concerns.[STRIKE-OUT ENDS]

        11

        12       Q.   Well, Mr Cooper --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is he allowed to have that, Mr Judd, or

        15       not?

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   No, Commissioner.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll strike out that answer.

        20

        21       MR CONDON:   Q.  At T3241, line 8, Mr Cooper was asked:

        22

        23            What happened to Mr Simpson's request for a

        24            paper on the Tigris matter?

        25

        26       The answer was:

        27

        28            I believe that it was considered in

        29            February, when the papers were being

        30            prepared for a March board meeting, and I

        31            consulted with the managing director and

        32            the company secretary, the other company

        33            secretary, Richard Fuller, about whether we

        34            should prepare such a paper.  And they told

        35            me that we had moved on from this matter

        36            and there was no need to prepare such a

        37            briefing paper.  I presumed that they had

        38            dealt with the matter after the December

        39            board meeting with John Simpson.

        40

        41       Now, do you have any comments about what Mr Cooper says?

        42       A.   No, my memory is that when I left the - when we went

        43       through the board meeting on the 15th, at the conclusion of

        44       it I was content with the information I had regarding the

        45       Tigris transaction.

        46

        47       Q.   It appears that you attended a meeting on 15 December
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         1       of the meeting of AWB Limited.  Perhaps I'll bring these

         2       notes up, WST.0016.0163.  You were present at this board

         3       meeting, I take it?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   If you go to 0176, were you told there was some issue

         7       of Tigris assisting or being paid by way of recovery of an

         8       outstanding debt?

         9       A.   Tigris - can you say that again, sorry?

        10

        11       Q.   You see there's a note "Pay by way of recover of

        12       outstanding debt".  Do you recall any discussion on this

        13       occasion about recovery of an outstanding debt?

        14       A.   Well, that was the way the transaction was explained

        15       to us, that was part of the transaction.

        16

        17       Q.   So had it been explained twice to you by this stage,

        18       that it was --

        19       A.   Oh, I see what you're saying.  I don't recall whether

        20       we went through it all.  If the note says we went through

        21       it again, maybe we did.  This is the Wednesday's notes, is

        22       it?

        23

        24       Q.   There's a reference to "influence".  Do you recall any

        25       discussion about influence or paying influential people, in

        26       the context of a deal having to be done?

        27       A.   I can presume it means that was the Tigris people

        28       helping influence us regaining contracts, but, I mean,

        29       I'm --

        30

        31       Q.   Against your initials, "JS", we have the entry "How

        32       appear in acct's".  I just want to try to understand your

        33       position.  You'd been given some information by Mr Lindberg

        34       on the previous day.  You still seem to be concerned about

        35       the matter; is that right?

        36       A.   I believe that comment attributed to me would be how

        37       the money that goes to growers would appear in the

        38       accounts.

        39

        40       Q.   And what answer did you get?

        41       A.   I don't recall.

        42

        43       Q.   Against Mr Thame's initials there's the word "Smell".

        44       What do you recall Mr Thame saying about that issue?

        45       A.   I don't recall what Mr Thame - how he related the word

        46       "smell", but - no, look, I can't tell you.

        47
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         1       Q.   We have Ms Scales' notes, exhibit 344, AWB.0270.0024.

         2       We think this may be at the joint information board

         3       meeting, or joint information meeting.  Do you recall

         4       Mr Thame saying anything about the Tigris cheque through

         5       the AWB account, "therefore we are now tainted"?

         6       A.   I don't recall it from memory.  I've obviously seen

         7       this note in my preparations for being here, but I don't

         8       recall it.

         9

        10       Q.   The reason I ask that, Mr Simpson, is that it was your

        11       understanding at the time, so you said, that the amount had

        12       not been paid to Tigris.  I just wanted to ask you, in

        13       light of the statement attributed to your co-director,

        14       "Tigris chq thru AWB account", do you adhere to that

        15       evidence, or not?

        16       A.   Which evidence is that?

        17

        18       Q.   As to your understanding as at 14 December as to

        19       whether or not Tigris had been paid by that date?

        20       A.   Yes, I do.

        21

        22       Q.   Now, were you informed at this stage about the loading

        23       up of contracts to repay Tigris?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   When did you become aware, if at all, as to whether or

        27       not that occurred?

        28       A.   It would have been in relation - are you talking about

        29       the fact or the allegation?

        30

        31       Q.   The allegation first, and then the fact.

        32       A.   Well, it would have been through one of the Volcker

        33       briefings.  As to the fact - well, I suppose this

        34       Commission was the 100 per cent fact, in my belief.

        35

        36       Q.   Well, was there a meeting of the AWB board early this

        37       year where that issue was discussed?  Can you recall

        38       Mr Lindberg saying anything about it?

        39       A.   Are we talking about the allegations contained in the

        40       Volcker Report?

        41

        42       Q.   Did you have a conversation or discussion with

        43       Mr Lindberg in January or February this year concerning the

        44       loading up of contracts to pay off the Tigris debt?

        45       A.   I don't mean to be evasive, but are you referring to

        46       him discussing something from Mr Volcker, or him just

        47       talking in his own person?
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         1

         2       Q.   Any discussion about the issue.

         3       A.   Look, I'm certain through the Volcker Inquiry we've

         4       discussed it a number of times, but as to which meetings, I

         5       can't tell you.

         6

         7       Q.   What is your evidence as to what Mr Lindberg has said

         8       to you - say over the course of last year and this year -

         9       about the loading up of the contracts to pay the Tigris

        10       debt?

        11       A.   Well, I don't have any recollection of him saying

        12       that.

        13

        14       Q.   Is it your evidence that at no stage he has said to

        15       you, or at a board meeting, that the contracts had been

        16       loaded up to repay the Tigris debt?

        17       A.   I don't recall him saying that, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   Do you recall anyone else on the part of AWB saying

        20       that?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Or words to that effect?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   Can I take you to exhibit 511, WST.0016.0191.

        27       Mr Simpson, I can tell you that according to the typed

        28       notes you were present at the meeting of AWB Limited on

        29       22 February and, for what it counts, 23 February.  These

        30       are Mr Fuller's notes.  I want to take you down, please, to

        31       Mr Lindberg's address on Project Rose at the bottom of the

        32       page.  If we go over the page, please, and to the heading

        33       of "Issues", there's an entry there, the second down:

        34

        35            Trucking fees - reasonable.

        36

        37       Do you recall Mr Lindberg discussing the issue of trucking

        38       fees?

        39       A.   Sorry, what was the date of this meeting, sorry?

        40

        41       Q.   This is 22 February 2005.

        42       A.   No, I don't.

        43

        44       Q.   Then the next entry is:

        45

        46            Compliance UN Conventions circumvented.

        47
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         1       What was said, if anything, about the circumvention or

         2       compliance with UN conventions?

         3       A.   I don't have a recollection.  Do you want my view, or

         4       not?  I presume he's talking about the impending inquiry.

         5       But I don't have a recollection.

         6

         7       Q.   You have no recollection at all of what he said on

         8       this occasion?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   And over the page, 0193 - I'll provide you with a hard

        12       copy.  That may assist the process.  The page is "Project

        13       Rose Cont"?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   By all means read through it, but you see about

        17       halfway down "AL's highest priority".

        18       A.   I see it, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   And there's reference to "AFP + Royal Comm"?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   And a reference to, "Has there been kickbacks, bribes,

        24       corruption - no evidence", "will focus on - may have found

        25       a way around."  Mr Simpson, can you recall any discussion

        26       about these issues on 22 February 2005?

        27       A.   No, my only thought on it is it's in relation to the

        28       impending IIC inquiry, and looking at the various

        29       possibilities and what might be said of us, and the AFP and

        30       the Royal Commission are worst-case outcomes, or potential

        31       worst-case outcomes.

        32

        33       Q.   This conversation took place but a little over a year

        34       ago, and it raises issues perhaps of some magnitude, you

        35       might accept.

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   And you're saying you have no recollection of any

        39       discussion about the issues which are set out in this

        40       document here?

        41       A.   Well, I don't remember it.  We obviously had the

        42       meeting and we had an update on what was potentially coming

        43       at us through the IIC inquiry, and I think that's what this

        44       all is, and, I mean, they're not my notes, but that's just

        45       my view of it.  I can't help you any more on this.

        46

        47       Q.   One of the issues, if we go over the page to 0194, we
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         1       see right at the top of the page "Notified D&O Insurance",

         2       that's Mr Thame, and then Mr Cooper says "Haven't yet but

         3       will do so".  Was that done, to the best of your knowledge?

         4       In other words, was a notification or claim made?

         5       A.   I wouldn't know, but my understanding of D&O insurance

         6       is that one of the quirks of it is you need to notify them

         7       of a potential anything, so it's a requirement of D&O

         8       insurance.  So the fact that there had been a - there was a

         9       potential the IIC - there was a potential inquiry would

        10       have required - my understanding of it, anyhow, is it would

        11       have required us just to let them know there was an inquiry

        12       around the corner.

        13

        14       Q.   My question was do you have a recollection of that

        15       being done, a claim made?

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   A claim made or a notification?

        18

        19       MR CONDON:   Q.   A notification to your insurer?

        20       A.   I don't have a recollection.  It would be a job for

        21       management.

        22

        23       Q.   Mr Lindberg has these words against his name, or

        24       initials, "Blemishes", arrow, "eg emails.  Former

        25       employees".  Do you recall there being any discussion about

        26       blemishes?

        27       A.   I have a funny recollection of - I guess I sat in here

        28       yesterday, so I'll be rehashing what someone else said.  Is

        29       that appropriate?

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you have a recollection of it, yes.

        32

        33       THE WITNESS:   There was a story relayed yesterday about

        34       the suitcase, some memo or email with "a suitcase full of

        35       money", I do recall that being relayed to me somewhere in

        36       the past, and perhaps that was during Andrew's comment

        37       then.  It may not have been, but --

        38

        39       MR CONDON:   Q.   I take it from your evidence that you

        40       can't recall who said that to you, apart from potentially

        41       Mr Lindberg, is that right?

        42       A.   I think that's the only --

        43

        44       Q.   Did he show you the email you think he was talking

        45       about?

        46       A.   Not that I recall, no.

        47
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         1       Q.   Apart from the suitcase email, had he referred to any

         2       other emails, or documents about Iraq?

         3       A.   He may have, but my recollection is thin on that one.

         4

         5       Q.   Well, have you been given since June of 2003 any

         6       bundles of emails or documents of any kind which relate to

         7       the Iraq matter or the Tigris matter?

         8       A.   Through the course of my preparation for coming here,

         9       I've seen a number - not heaps, but a number, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   In the last few weeks, but apart from that, have you

        12       received any documents?

        13       A.   No, not that I recall.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Cooper, going back to this memo, raised a question

        16       of notifying the ASX.  Do you recall anything about that

        17       issue?

        18       A.   Maybe not specifically that one, but quite often when

        19       we're discussing through the course of a board meeting

        20       something - a board member will raise should we notify the

        21       ASX.  By way of example, an obvious one was when we

        22       announced our takeover of Landmark.  But we quite often -

        23       the question is raised by a director should we - and the

        24       general consensus is it's not price sensitive and so -

        25       share price sensitive, so it's not a matter that needs to

        26       go through there.  But the comment is quite often made and

        27       not acted upon.  Whether this was acted upon I can't tell

        28       you.

        29

        30       Q.   Well, since December 2004 - just returning to the

        31       issue of Tigris - have you been told anything about that

        32       transaction which would contradict what you understood to

        33       be the case; that is, that the transaction basically

        34       involved repayment of a debt and the payment to AWB of a

        35       fee on account of its assistance in relation to that

        36       transaction?

        37       A.   You're referring up until this inquiry started?

        38

        39       Q.   Yes.

        40       A.   Look, I don't recall anything.  No, I don't recall

        41       anything.

        42

        43       Q.   Were you aware at any stage that the agreement between

        44       Tigris and AWB had been reduced to writing?

        45       A.   I've never - I didn't know there was a contract, and

        46       I've never seen a contract.  Sorry, was that the question?

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.  Did you ever ask anyone, apart from for the

         2       purposes of this proceeding, or inquiry, I should say,

         3       whether or not there had been a contract reduced to

         4       writing, or was that simply your assumption?

         5       A.   Well, I've just never seen one or had it presented to

         6       me or heard of one.

         7

         8       Q.   Can I go to the meeting of 10 March 2005, exhibit 512,

         9       AWB.0348.0073.  Again, can I supply you with a hard copy,

        10       Mr Simpson, so we speed the process up.  According to

        11       Mr Fuller's notes, you are said to be in attendance.

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   I want to ask you about just a few entries.  You see

        15       about three-quarters of the way down the page there's an

        16       entry "Potential breach of UN Res'n 661", an arrow,

        17       "procedural", and then an entry beneath it "Unknowingly or

        18       unwittingly breached".  I want to ask you, do you have any

        19       recollection of persons discussing that particular issue in

        20       your presence?

        21       A.   Well, I presume it's part of the IIC allegation,

        22       and --

        23

        24       Q.   I don't want your presumption; I want your

        25       recollection.  What's your recollection about this?

        26       A.   Well, I don't have one.

        27

        28       Q.   Do you have a recollection, having looked at this

        29       note, of anything that was discussed on this particular

        30       occasion?

        31       A.   No, I'd only be surmising, sir.  Do you want me to go

        32       over the page?  You're just asking about the front page, I

        33       presume.

        34

        35       Q.   By all means read the next page, although about

        36       two-thirds of the way down the next page you have "AWBI

        37       Board Meeting", I understand you weren't a director of AWBI

        38       at this time?

        39       A.   That's correct.

        40

        41       Q.   If you read the second page to that --

        42       A.   Perhaps you can read the writing to me.  "Left

        43       happy" - what's the word after "happy"?

        44

        45       Q.   Something "Fully cooperated":

        46

        47            Focus on Alia.
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         1            What we knew --

         2

         3       and I think --

         4

         5            when we knew it.

         6            Did we document ability to deliver

         7            commercially.

         8            Due diligence?

         9            Required to use by IGB.  We formed the

        10            view.

        11            XM:  Used before?

        12            AL:  Yes.

        13            WMcCl:  Tigris?

        14            AL:  Not an issue.

        15

        16       A.   No, look, I'm not getting any recollection there.

        17       It's obviously to do with the IIC pending inquiry, but --

        18

        19       Q.   Lastly, we have Mr Fuller's notes and you have seen

        20       some notes of Mr Cooper.  Were there executive assistants

        21       who also took minutes of meetings?

        22       A.   Board meetings - board meetings or information

        23       meetings, or --

        24

        25       Q.   Well, let's do it meeting by meeting - board meetings?

        26       A.   Obviously at board meetings there's - Mr Fuller took -

        27       generally always took the minutes.  There was one or two

        28       occasions where somebody else stepped in.  At project or

        29       joint information sessions, well, obviously a few people

        30       took notes, by what we've seen here, but I wasn't conscious

        31       that people were - maybe other than personal notes.

        32

        33       Q.   Am I right in thinking that there were women called

        34       Jane and Danielle who took notes?

        35       A.   Occasionally - minutes:  that was at board meetings.

        36

        37       Q.   Were they informal minutes or contemporaneous records

        38       of what was being discussed; is that right?

        39       A.   In my view, they were going to be the formal minutes.

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   Thank you.  That completes the examination of

        42       Mr Simpson, Commissioner.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?  Does anybody else have any

        45       questions of Mr Simpson?  Thank you, Mr Simpson.  Is there

        46       any reason why Mr Simpson should not be excused?

        47
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         1       MR CONDON:   No, Commissioner.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  You are excused.

         4

         5       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

         6

         7       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         8

         9       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, the next witness is John Michael

        10       Thame.

        11

        12       MR LINDSAY:   I apply for authorisation to appear for the

        13       witness.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that leave is granted on the usual

        16       terms.

        17

        18       <JOHN MICHAEL THAME, sworn:                       [3.33pm]

        19

        20       <EXAMINATION BY MR CONDON:

        21

        22       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Thame, your full name is John Michael

        23       Thame; is that right?

        24       A.   That's right.

        25

        26       Q.   Can I show you the outline of evidence you provided,

        27       which we have edited simply to remove your address.  It's

        28       WST.0021.0001.  Do you have a copy of that statement in

        29       front of you?

        30       A.   I do.

        31

        32       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct?

        33       A.   They are in so much as some of the dates there I now,

        34       having heard evidence, would confirm that I'd agree with

        35       the evidence, rather than what I originally thought.  But

        36       they're only minor issues as to whether it was a joint

        37       meeting or a board meeting, et cetera.

        38

        39       Q.   I'll come back to that in a second.

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   In the meantime, I tender the statement.

        42

        43       EXHIBIT #523 STATEMENT OF EVIDENCE OF JOHN MICHAEL THAME,

        44       BARCODED WST.0021.0001

        45

        46       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can you perhaps correct the dates that

        47       you foreshadowed, if it's convenient, now?
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         1       A.   From evidence others have given, clearly Tigris must

         2       have been discussed first at a joint meeting.  My

         3       recollection up until I heard that was that it was really

         4       at the board meeting on the 15th and not on the 14th, and

         5       that's probably the main change.

         6

         7       Q.   So your recollection is that Tigris was first

         8       discussed on 14 December at the joint information session?

         9       A.   Up until I heard the evidence earlier, I thought it

        10       was at the board meeting, but I'd now concede I was

        11       probably wrong on that basis.

        12

        13       Q.   I might just take you through your statement as it

        14       appears.  In paragraph 4 you say this:

        15

        16            In general terms I should say that my

        17            impression is that the board of AWBL was

        18            neither fully or properly informed about

        19            the matters that are now before the

        20            Inquiry.

        21

        22       You identify two issues:  one is not being fully informed

        23       and the second issue is not being properly informed.  Can I

        24       just break those concepts up into two discrete issues.  To

        25       what extent do you say that the board of AWBL was not fully

        26       informed about the matters that are now before the inquiry?

        27       A.   From the press reports and other matters I've read, I

        28       don't believe the AWB board - and I can only talk for

        29       L - was aware of any payments to the Iraqi regime by way of

        30       a discount of 10 per cent, or any of those issues, and

        31       certainly up until I think it was the 14 December meeting,

        32       but I could be wrong by a month, I wasn't even aware that

        33       there was any sort of trucking payments being made.  As to

        34       the exact date of learning that, I really can't recall.

        35       But I think it was 14 December.

        36

        37       Q.   To what extent do you say that the board of AWBL was

        38       not properly informed?  Is there some suggestion in the use

        39       of that word "properly" that you expected more information

        40       to be communicated to AWBL?

        41       A.   I would have thought a payment of a "kickback" would

        42       have been something that any board should be extremely well

        43       aware of, and I certainly, in the six years I was there,

        44       had no impression that that was the case.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, there is --

        47       A.   That was right through to the conclusion of my stay on
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         1       the board.

         2

         3       Q.   What was there in place during your tenure as a

         4       director that obligated management to come to the board and

         5       approach it about these sorts of issues?

         6       A.   AWB - and I can only compare it with other boards I've

         7       been on - I thought had a very open culture.  Board members

         8       seemed to have access to staff quite readily, and I have to

         9       confess when I was on the board of AWB I felt very

        10       comfortable that nothing was being hidden.  Obviously I

        11       have a different view today.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you have reason to speak with members of the IS&M

        14       division or the pool?

        15       A.   No.  Being the non-farmer on the board, I really just

        16       felt probably out of my depth when it got down to grain,

        17       et cetera.

        18

        19       Q.   We've heard some evidence that a policy was adopted

        20       that board members should not approach employees of the

        21       company and that access was in fact restricted to board

        22       members to certain parts of the building.

        23       A.   That was the case, particularly when they moved in to

        24       the new building, but it was I think just good governance

        25       on the part of the MD and, in reality, is the exercise of

        26       most other companies.  You can't have the staff running to

        27       board members and not going through their normal channels.

        28

        29       Q.   Have you become aware, as a result of some inquiry, of

        30       the Arthur Andersen report?

        31       A.   I've read about the Arthur Andersen report and various

        32       reports, but I have no recollection, except I think they

        33       were appointed internal auditors at one point.  So I'm

        34       not - I'm somewhat confused when I read it as to whether

        35       they were wearing the hat of being the internal auditor.

        36       When I first joined the board, we had a - the internal

        37       audit was a staff member, with assistant staff, and then it

        38       was contracted out.  I thought it was contracted out to

        39       Arthur Andersen, but I could stand corrected on that.

        40

        41       Q.   I don't wish to take you to the report, I won't do so,

        42       except there appears this comment in the report as it

        43       stands in December 2000:

        44

        45            There was AWB management pressure to

        46            maintain the sales to Iraq.

        47
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         1       In light of that express concern, how could it be that the

         2       board would come to understand if management was exerting

         3       pressure of that kind and seek to stop it?

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   I object.  There doesn't seem to be a basis to

         6       ask the question, which I understand is how --

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I reject the question.

         9

        10       MR CONDON:   If it please the Commission.

        11

        12       Q.   Returning to your statement, Mr Thame, you refer to

        13       Tigris in paragraph 5.  I want to ask you if you can expand

        14       upon what appears in those paragraphs.  There was a joint

        15       information session which you attended; is that correct?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Was Mr Lindberg a speaker on that occasion?

        19       A.   I believe - he certainly was there, and I believe he

        20       would have been the speaker.

        21

        22       Q.   You refer in paragraph 6 to --

        23       A.   I believe I'm wrong in paragraph 5.  That's one issue

        24       that I think must have been discussed the day before, but I

        25       must confess I thought the recollection was an L meeting.

        26

        27       Q.   You refer in paragraph 6 to either Mr Lindberg or

        28       Mr Stott raising the issue.  Is it your recollection it was

        29       more likely Mr Lindberg than Mr Stott, or vice versa?

        30       A.   My recollection is probably it was Mr Lindberg.

        31

        32       Q.   Is it your recollection that Mr Stott was present?

        33       A.   I thought he was.

        34

        35       Q.   You see in the first line of paragraph 6 you say that

        36       you were informed that a payment had been made by Tigris.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Had been made to Tigris.

        39

        40       MR CONDON:   Q.   Sorry, "to Tigris" - I apologise.  Am I

        41       to understand from that entry that you believed, or had the

        42       understanding, that the payment had already been made -

        43       that is, prior to the meeting on this day?

        44       A.   I always thought it was a fait accompli when it was

        45       presented to the board - it was a done deal.  That was

        46       always my impression, but I could be wrong.  It certainly

        47       was my belief.
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         1

         2       Q.   One can distinguish the deal from the payment which

         3       might follow from the deal.  My question is directed to the

         4       issue of the payment.

         5       A.   Look, I don't believe we would have understood whether

         6       the actual physical payment had been made at that point.

         7       It was presented as a deal that was done.  Perhaps the

         8       cheque hadn't been paid.  I don't know.

         9

        10       Q.   You see, we have a note which is Ms Scales' file note.

        11       I can read it out, or put it on the screen, if you prefer.

        12       Against your name appears this entry:

        13

        14            Tigris chq thru AWB --

        15

        16       or "AWBI", I can't read which --

        17

        18            account.  Therefore we are now tainted.

        19

        20       Now, that was Ms Scales' note attributing words to you.

        21       Does that refresh your recollection one way or the other

        22       about the issue?

        23       A.   Look, I don't remember my comments that have been

        24       attributed to me, but I don't deny that words around that

        25       would have been said.  But, again, it reinforces my view

        26       that I thought it was a done deal.  I thought the payment

        27       had been made.  Otherwise it would have been reversible.

        28

        29       Q.   Well, turning to what Ms Scales attributes to you, she

        30       says, "Therefore we are now tainted".  The natural question

        31       is what was the concern you had in your mind to make you

        32       think that AWB had been tainted?

        33       A.   I've thought about that a lot since I was asked the

        34       question, and I can only say that something that was said

        35       before I made the comments gave me that impression, and I

        36       don't know what it is and I cannot recall it.  I suppose -

        37       and it is a supposition on my part --

        38

        39       Q.   I don't want supposition; I only want your

        40       recollection?

        41       A.   Well, my recollection is I cannot recollect.

        42

        43       Q.   Were you present in the course of Mr Simpson's

        44       examination?

        45       A.   Yes, I was.

        46

        47       Q.   You would have seen I took Mr Simpson to one of
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         1       Mr Fuller's notes of a joint information session which had

         2       Project Rose and Project Tigris under the same entry.

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you have any recollection of the two issues being

         6       discussed in the same context?

         7       A.   No, I don't have any recollection of them being in the

         8       same context, I thought they were separate, but I could be

         9       wrong.

        10

        11       Q.   What is your recollection, doing the best you can now,

        12       of what was said to you on that particular occasion?

        13       A.   Regarding Project Rose, I asked some specific

        14       questions of management.  Whilst I can't remember my exact

        15       words, they were to the effect, "Have we done anything

        16       wrong?  Have we broken the law?  Is there any

        17       criminality" - I'm not professing they were the exact

        18       words.  The answer from management was no, we hadn't.  It

        19       was on that basis that I was satisfied at that point in

        20       time there was nothing that was being hidden.

        21

        22       Q.   What explanation was given by management for that

        23       information as it was conveyed to you?

        24       A.   The reason - if I backtrack, the reason I asked those

        25       questions, I think that was at the same meeting where the

        26       trucking fees, or the increase in trucking fees, had been

        27       explained to the board.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Can you recall the explanation

        30       given for the increase?

        31       A.   The increase, as I recall it, was on the basis

        32       of - and I think this was an increase immediately prior to

        33       the invasion - the increased risk, et cetera.  I have to

        34       confess I do recall discussing it with one of my colleagues

        35       on that day, that, well, it probably seemed plausible, but

        36       I have to confess I wouldn't have known what was a

        37       reasonable trucking fee and what wasn't, but at the time it

        38       appeared that, given the risks involved, it was plausible

        39       someone would expect more remuneration.

        40

        41       Q.   How did the issue of trucking fees come up?

        42       A.   It was part of the Project Rose discovery, if I can

        43       put it that way, that Mr Cooper and Mr Lindberg informed

        44       the board on.

        45

        46       MR CONDON:   Q.   What is your recollection of what was

        47       said about the increase in trucking fees?  Was an initial
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         1       figure identified?

         2       A.   My recollection, I thought it was $10 a tonne, going

         3       to $30 a tonne, and I assume US.  I did sit through an

         4       earlier session this afternoon where a $48.75 was on the

         5       board.  I have no recollection of that figure.  I thought

         6       it was just going from 10 to 30.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you recall what time frame was given for the

         9       increases?  You mentioned something about just before the

        10       war and the increased risk.  Was there any discussion at

        11       all about increases in 2000 and 2001?

        12       A.   Again, it was my assumption that it started off at $10

        13       and increased.  Again, I just assumed that was when it

        14       first started in 2000, but --

        15

        16       Q.   I'm after your recollection of what you had been told?

        17       A.   My recollection is it wasn't - I was left to assume

        18       what I assumed.

        19

        20       Q.   Were you told anything about an aftersales service

        21       fee, or a service fee?

        22       A.   I have never heard of a service fee until this inquiry

        23       started.

        24

        25       Q.   Were you told anything about trucking fees being

        26       calculated, at least in part, by reference to 10 per cent

        27       of the CIF value?

        28       A.   No.  I have no recollection of it ever being suggested

        29       to us.

        30

        31       Q.   Was there any explanation given to you, apart from

        32       risks pending the war, as to why the fees had gone up?

        33       A.   Not that I recall.

        34

        35       Q.   Were you told anything as to how these trucking fees

        36       came to be imposed?

        37       A.   Again, not that I recall, and I don't believe so.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, you have a recollection, but you were not told

        40       about how these fees came to be imposed; is that correct?

        41       A.   Well, I understood the trucking fee was part of the

        42       contract, where we had to deliver to the upcountry silo,

        43       was my interpretation of it, which may well have been a

        44       wrong interpretation.  That's what I believed it was for.

        45

        46       Q.   Was that belief based upon an explanation given by

        47       Mr Lindberg?
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         1       A.   Certainly based on my interpretation of what I had

         2       heard, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Was this explanation given at the joint information

         5       session, or on a previous occasion?

         6       A.   As I said before, I'm not sure whether I heard it for

         7       the first time on 14 or 13 December or the month before,

         8       but it was within that type of timeframe.

         9

        10       Q.   Did any of the executives present say anything about

        11       the trucking fees?

        12       A.   Not that I recall.

        13

        14       Q.   You said earlier that you had asked the question -

        15       and, in fairness to you, you weren't binding yourself to

        16       the word "criminality", or something like that - what was

        17       it that caused you to ask that question?

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   In what context, sir?

        20

        21       MR CONDON:   I'll withdraw the question.

        22

        23       Q.   You asked the question of the persons present had

        24       there been any criminality, or words to that effect?

        25       A.   The trigger I had was at every meeting we learnt a

        26       little more, and I really wanted to try to pin it down as

        27       to where they were.

        28

        29       Q.   Was this a meeting where the process of learning

        30       commenced, or had there been earlier meetings?

        31

        32       MR LINDSAY:   Can I ask my friend to indicate what meeting

        33       we're talking about, because I'm not sure where this --

        34

        35       MR CONDON:   These questions are directed to the joint

        36       information session.

        37

        38       MR LINDSAY:   Of what date?

        39

        40       MR CONDON:   Q.   14 December 2004?

        41       A.   I believe it was the February meeting I asked the

        42       questions at, not the December, but I could be wrong on

        43       that.

        44

        45       Q.   That is February 2005?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   And you left, I think, in March of 2005.  But was the

         2       December 2004 meeting the first occasion where you, as a

         3       director, had learned some information about what had been

         4       going on in Iraq?

         5       A.   I think it was the first meeting we learnt about

         6       trucking fees, but, as I said before, it could have been a

         7       meeting before that.

         8

         9       Q.   Had there been occasions where you had asked --

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Can I just interrupt my friend to deal with a

        12       matter that has come to my attention, and it ought to be

        13       dealt with promptly.  I apologise to my friend.  We were

        14       given a summary of interview of Mr Simpson that had been

        15       conducted by the Commission and we had understood this was

        16       to be the basis for his examination, and that is

        17       straightforward enough.  In order to deal with the matters

        18       of privilege and obtaining his instructions on any

        19       corrections that might be made to the answers that were

        20       given, we addressed those and gave an edited version to my

        21       friend.

        22

        23            It appears that, by some process, the unedited version

        24       has been distributed to the media.  We don't attribute

        25       blame; these things happen.  What we would like to do is,

        26       as best we can, ensure that the unedited versions are

        27       recovered, and if there is to be a version distributed, it

        28       be the one that --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   There shouldn't be any version

        31       distributed.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   Well, we would have thought so, given the nature

        34       of this document.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   He simply gave oral evidence.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Correct.  This is of the nature of an

        39       aide-memoire.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm sure that will occur, Mr Judd,

        42       thank you.

        43

        44       MR CONDON:   I'll make some inquiries.  Certainly it was

        45       not our intention that that course take place.  I apologise

        46       if it has occurred.

        47
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         1       Q.   I had asked you, Mr Thame, if this was the first

         2       occasion you had learnt of information concerning trucking

         3       fees, and you answered you thought it was, although it

         4       could have been the meeting beforehand.  Had there been an

         5       occasion before December 2004 or before November 2004, when

         6       that earlier meeting may have taken place, where questions

         7       had been asked about trucking fees?

         8       A.   I don't recall anything.

         9

        10       Q.   Had there been any earlier occasion when information

        11       concerning trucking fees had been raised with the board in

        12       the context of Project Rose.

        13       A.   I don't recall any earlier comment on trucking fees

        14       whatsoever.

        15

        16       Q.   Returning to paragraph 8 of your statement, you refer

        17       to what you call the "smell test".  You may well have

        18       answered this already in the context of the question about

        19       criminality, but what was it that alerted your smell test?

        20       A.   We're talking about the Tigris issue at this stage?

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.

        23       A.   I think I was probably surprised that AWB was

        24       collecting debts for Tigris through the pool.  That's my

        25       only explanation for my surprise.

        26

        27       Q.   Did you ask for an explanation as to why AWB was

        28       engaged in that activity?

        29       A.   I don't believe I did, but there was a lot of

        30       discussion about it, and it was an issue that I think

        31       management put up, expecting probably no discussion, that

        32       probably got everyone around the board table making

        33       comments.

        34

        35       Q.   What explanation was given as to why this was being

        36       provided for information purposes?

        37       A.   I'm not sure there was an explanation, when I reflect.

        38       I don't recall one being given.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you recall what management said

        41       about why AWB had engaged in this transaction at all?

        42       A.   No, I don't recall.

        43

        44       MR CONDON:   Q.   There was a board meeting on the

        45       following day, 15 December, of AWB Limited.  Do you recall

        46       what discussion occurred on that occasion about Iraq

        47       trucking or the Tigris matter?
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         1       A.   I'm always confused as to whether it was the 14th or

         2       the 13th meeting where most of the discussion took place on

         3       both the Tigris and the trucking.

         4

         5       Q.   And we have Mr Fuller's notes of that meeting,

         6       WST.0016.0163.  You are recorded as being present.  If we

         7       go through to page 0176, there are some notes about Tigris.

         8       Can I take you to the second entry, "Pay by way of recover

         9       outstanding debt", it appears.  What was the explanation

        10       you received about the nature of the Tigris transaction -

        11       or, put another way, what was AWB receiving money on

        12       account of?

        13       A.   As far as recollection, I recollect very little about

        14       that explanation, if anything.  I clearly recollect the

        15       transaction and the discussion, but when I get down to the

        16       specifics, I must confess I'm not aware of why they did it.

        17       I'm not suggesting that meeting wasn't informed of that.

        18

        19       Q.   Well, is it your recollection that you were told that

        20       AWB was receiving a fee on account of its assistance to

        21       Tigris to recover a debt due to Tigris, or were you told

        22       that AWB was paying Tigris on account of services Tigris

        23       had performed?

        24       A.   I cannot recall exactly what was said on that issue.

        25       I can only assume, from my notes and what others have said,

        26       that we were getting a fee.

        27

        28       Q.   Do you know for what reason you were getting a fee?

        29       A.   My recollection is that we'd assisted in collecting a

        30       debt.

        31

        32       Q.   The last entry that appears as yours is "Smell", and

        33       then we have Mr McClelland's initials on another

        34       transaction, it appears.  Do you recall where the meeting

        35       ended after you uttered the word "Smell", or something like

        36       that?

        37       A.   I don't recall uttering the word "Smell", but it may

        38       have been some comment about passing a smell test.

        39

        40       Q.   Is that where the matter lay as at December 2004?

        41       A.   I think the matter lay in the fact that there was

        42       advice that the transaction was --

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Don't give the substance of the advice.

        45

        46       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, I'm going to be another

        47       20 minutes or so.  Is it convenient to have a short break
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         1       now?

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we'll go on.

         4

         5       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can I take you then to the meeting of

         6       22 February.  Again, if I have reference to the typed

         7       notes, you are said to be in attendance at the meeting of

         8       AWB Limited on 22 February, and, indeed, of International

         9       on 22 February.  These are Mr Fuller's notes of that

        10       meeting.

        11       A.   That was a joint meeting, I take it.

        12

        13       Q.   It may well have been a joint meeting.  Yes, I'm

        14       obliged, I'm reminded that the document says "held

        15       concurrently".  Can I take you to the words attributed to

        16       Mr Lindberg, WST.0016.0191.  Whilst it's being brought up,

        17       had you had any discussions between 14 December and

        18       February 22 about the issues of trucking fees or Tigris?

        19       A.   I thought there was a telephone hook-up in January,

        20       but I could be wrong, because I had to drop out of it

        21       because of telephone difficulties.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What was said, do you remember?

        24       A.   Look, I think it was more to do with the election

        25       process or the coming general election - annual meeting,

        26       from my recollection.  But I'm sure they would have covered

        27       the Project Rose as well.  I was on it for a relatively

        28       short period of time and had great difficulty in hearing.

        29       In fact, it was my phone that was causing everyone a

        30       problem and I was asked to disconnect for the sake of the

        31       group.

        32

        33       MR CONDON:   Q.   Could I hand to you a hard copy of the

        34       minutes on 22 February.  I want to draw your attention in

        35       particular to page 0192, the second page of that bundle,

        36       and the words under the heading "Issues" about two-thirds

        37       of the way down the page.  Do you recall there being any

        38       discussion about the reasonableness or otherwise of the

        39       trucking fees?

        40       A.   As I said before, yes, there was a comment on, because

        41       of the impending war, an increase in fees, and I think it

        42       was in that context that that was discussed.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you recall what the next note refers to,

        45       "Compliance UN Conventions circumvented"?

        46       A.   No, I don't.  I have no memory whatsoever of that.

        47
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         1       Q.   According to the typed notes, Mr Cooper was present

         2       and Mr Hargreaves was present and Mr Fuller was present.

         3       Did any of those gentlemen say anything about the issue of

         4       trucking fees, to your knowledge?

         5       A.   They could have.  Mr Cooper in particular could have.

         6

         7       Q.   Do you recall what he had to say about the issue?

         8       A.   I just generally recall - and I'm sure it was this

         9       meeting where the reported increase was disclosed.  Who

        10       said it I'm not sure.

        11

        12       Q.   What was said about Tigris on this occasion?

        13       A.   I don't recall.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What about governance, Mr Thame,

        16       do you recall discussion about that?

        17       A.   Not a discussion about governance per se, no, I don't

        18       think there was one.

        19

        20       MR CONDON:   Q.   If you go over the page, we have some

        21       entries to which I took Mr Simpson - no doubt you heard -

        22       about Mr Lindberg and highest priority, the AFP and royal

        23       commission, the entry "Has there been kickbacks, bribes,

        24       corruption - no evidence", "will focus on - may have found

        25       a way around".  Then against your name are attributed these

        26       words, "Wisdom of hindsight.  Wished hadn't done that".

        27       What was that a reference to?

        28       A.   I have no recollection of specifically what I was

        29       commenting on there, but I think the comments above

        30       probably relate to my questions.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, was this in the context of Tigris or the

        33       trucking fee, or what?

        34       A.   It was in the context of Project Rose reporting.

        35

        36       Q.   And what was there that you had been told which led

        37       you to believe that you wished it hadn't been done?

        38       A.   I don't recall why I stated that.

        39

        40       Q.   Well, you seemed to have some concerns, because over

        41       the page, against your name is the entry "Notified D&O

        42       Insurance" - apparently it's a question you're raising.

        43       What was it that caused you concern about that particular

        44       issue?

        45       A.   I think, reflecting on it, it was probably just

        46       being - it was good management, given that we did have

        47       issues.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you know if notification was made?

         3       A.   I don't.

         4

         5       Q.   And there are other entries, but Mr Lindberg has this

         6       about halfway down the page:

         7

         8            Blemishes - eg emails.

         9            Former employees.

        10

        11       Do you recall any discussion or statement by Mr Lindberg

        12       about those issues?

        13       A.   I vaguely recall those.  I'm not sure whether that's

        14       brought about by what I've read since, or not.  But I do

        15       vaguely recall it.

        16

        17       Q.   What is your recollection of what was said about those

        18       particular issues?

        19       A.   Look, it is that vague I couldn't say what it is, but

        20       there's been some examples given recently and that was

        21       probably what it was.  I can't recall the comment on

        22       suitcases, money, but --

        23

        24       Q.   You say there's been some examples given.  I was

        25       thinking of the suitcase email, but do you recall --

        26       A.   I never recall that one being used - sorry, given as

        27       an example, to be honest.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you recall other emails being used as an example?

        30       A.   No.  I sense there was, but I don't recall.

        31

        32       Q.   Do you have a recollection of emails being present in

        33       Mr Lindberg's hand?

        34       A.   No, I don't.

        35

        36       Q.   And Mr Cooper has, returning to this note, "Notify

        37       ASX".  What was that about, to your recollection?

        38       A.   It was just a general question, is there anything we

        39       should notify the ASX for.  I don't believe from that there

        40       was anything, but it was a fairly regular question.

        41

        42       Q.   If we go through the document and go to page 0196, the

        43       third entry on that page is "Key to this is Trevor Flugge".

        44       What was that a reference to?

        45       A.   I think that really refers to the whole issue of

        46       trucking fees and dealings, and Mr Flugge was on the board

        47       of the old government department board and the transfer to
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         1       the listed company, and that covered a period of some

         2       17 years, so if Mr Flugge didn't know something about it, I

         3       wouldn't have expected anyone else to know anything about

         4       it.  I think it was as straightforward as that.

         5

         6       Q.   Did someone agree to speak to Mr Flugge about it?

         7       A.   I don't recall - I just assume they would have.  But I

         8       don't recall anyone saying they would.

         9

        10       Q.   Well, here we have a meeting where we see from the

        11       notes there is discussion about a royal commission --

        12       A.   I do not recall any reference to the Australian

        13       Federal Police or a royal commission.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, the notes --

        16       A.   I know the notes have it, but I would have thought

        17       that's something that would stick in my mind.

        18

        19       Q.   Leaving to one side that issue, the notes suggest a

        20       fairly anxious board considering an important matter; do

        21       you agree with that?

        22       A.   (Witness nods).

        23

        24       Q.   What information did you get from Mr Lindberg and the

        25       other people present about distilling the board's concerns?

        26       A.   Project Rose was the only mechanism in reality we had.

        27       It had an outside legal representative from a reputable

        28       legal firm in Melbourne doing an investigation which, as I

        29       stated in my submission, I'm not sure whether it was at the

        30       request of the board or the request of Mr Lindberg, but I

        31       regarded it as basically a board-initiated inquiry, and

        32       that reported back.

        33

        34       Q.   The last meeting I think you attended as a board

        35       member was that of 10 March 2005, exhibit 512 - that's

        36       Mr Fuller's notes - AWB.0348.0073.  Can I provide you with

        37       a hard copy of those notes.  I want to ask you about

        38       entries "Potential breach of UN Resolution 661 -

        39       procedural.  Unknowingly or unwittingly breached", and by

        40       all means look at the other entries to assist you.  Do you

        41       recall now what was discussed about those matters on

        42       10 March 2005?

        43       A.   I don't recall it.  The meeting was held just prior to

        44       the annual meeting, I think it lasted probably less than

        45       20 minutes, and I think it was a brief update from Andrew

        46       Lindberg.  That's about all I do remember of it.

        47
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         1       Q.   So you basically have no recollection about the

         2       discussions that took place on this occasion; is that

         3       right?

         4       A.   I don't recollect anything in specific detail.  It

         5       would have covered these issues, as one would expect.

         6

         7       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, that completes the examination

         8       of Mr Thame.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lindsay, do you have any questions?

        11

        12       MR LINDSAY:   No questions.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   No, sir.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else have any matters?

        19

        20       MR LACAVA:   I have just a couple of matters.

        21

        22       <EXAMINATION BY MR LACAVA:

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Q.    Mr Thame, I just want to ask you a

        25       couple of questions on behalf of Charles Stott.  Can I take

        26       you to your statement, please, on the first page.

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   In paragraphs 5 and 6 you deal with this board meeting

        30       of AWBL on 15 December 2004.  In paragraph 6 you say:

        31

        32            I think that it was at this meeting that we

        33            were informed that a payment had been made

        34            to Tigris by AWBI in relation to a debt.  I

        35            do not now recall the context in which the

        36            payment was discussed.  My best

        37            recollection is that Andrew Lindberg or

        38            Charles Stott raised the issue...

        39

        40       I think in your evidence today you have probably come down

        41       on the side of Mr Lindberg having told you that; is that

        42       so?

        43       A.   I believe so, but I'm still uncertain.

        44

        45       Q.   I just want to clarify something with you --

        46       A.   And I think it was also the joint meeting the day

        47       before.
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         1

         2       Q.   The information session?

         3       A.   The information session.

         4

         5       Q.   Yes.  Could we have brought up, please, exhibit 66C,

         6       AWB.0194.0047.  Mr Thame, I've had brought up the minutes

         7       for the AWB Limited meeting on 15 December.  Do you see

         8       there that you're listed as having been in attendance, and

         9       then others in attendance include Mr Charles Stott, Group

        10       General Manager, Rural Services, for item 4(i), and also,

        11       if you go down a little further, you'll see Mr James

        12       Hatherley, Head of Corporate Development for item 4(i); do

        13       you see that?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Can we go over then to AWB.0194.0049.  Can we scroll

        17       down to the bottom of the page, please.  You see what I've

        18       brought up here, Mr Thame, is item 4, "Strategic Issues",

        19       4(i), "Project White:

        20

        21            The board welcomed Mr Charles Stott and

        22            Mr James Hatherley to the meeting.

        23

        24       If we can go over the page, please, to AWB.0194.0050, this

        25       is the next page, Mr Thame.  At the top of the page there

        26       is a reference to a matter that Mr Stott was involved in,

        27       item 4(i), you'll see there just above the subject "Project

        28       Beauty":

        29

        30            At the end of this agenda item Mr Stott and

        31            Mr Hatherley left the room and took no

        32            further part in the meeting.

        33

        34       Does that accord with your recollection, that Mr Stott was

        35       there only for this agenda item?

        36       A.   I wouldn't dispute that.  As I say, I recollected

        37       Mr Stott, but obviously he wasn't there for this.  I don't

        38       quite know why I tended to think he was.

        39

        40       MR LACAVA:   Yes, thank you.  I have no further questions,

        41       Commissioner.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Nothing arising?  Thank you, Mr Thame.

        44       You're excused.  Thank you.

        45

        46       THE WITNESS:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        47
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         1       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         2

         3       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, that is as far as we can take

         4       the matter today.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I'll adjourn until 10am

         7       tomorrow.

         8

         9       AT 4.20PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

        10       TO THURSDAY, 9 MARCH 2006 AT 10AM

        11
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